AD-A13	35 749 SSIFIED	AUTO INSTI H D I N613	WATED I RUCTION KRIBS E 39-79-C	NSTRUCT AL SCIE T AL. C -0104	IONAL M INCE AND ICT 83 M	MEDIA S DEVEL NAVTRAE	ELECTIO DPMENT QUIPC-7	N (AIMS INC SAN 9-C-010 F	5)(U) DIEGO 4-1 /G 5/9	CA N	1/ 2 _	-



MICROCOPY RESOLUTION TEST CHART NATIONAL BENKAL OF TINCAR (#10.5)

.





Technical Report: NAVTRAEQUIPCEN 79-C-0104-1

AUTOMATED INSTRUCTIONAL MEDIA SELECTION (AIMS)

H. D. Kribs, A. C. Simpson, and L. J. Mark Instructional Science and Development, Inc. 5059 Newport Avenue San Diego, California 92107

October 1983 Report June 1979 - June 1983



DoD Distribution Statement

Approved for public release; distribution unlimited.

NAVAL TRAINING EQUIPMENT CENTER ORLANDO, FLORIDA 32813

83 12 13 270

GOVERNMENT RIGHTS IN DATA STATEMENT

Reproduction of this publication in whole or in part is permitted for any purpose of the United States Government.

UNCLASSIFIED

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE	READ INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE COMPLETING FORM
. REPORT NUMBER 2. GOVT A	CCESSION NO. 3. RECIPIENT'S CATALOG NUMBER
NAVTRAEOUIPCEN 79-C-0104-1	
TITLE (and Subtitia)	5. TYPE OF REPORT & PERIOD COVERED
ALTOMATED INSTRUCTIONAL MEDIA SELECTION /A	TMC
ADIDINIED INSTRUCTIONAL MEDIA SELECTION (A	
	6. PERFORMING ORG. REPORT NUMBER
AUTHOR(a)	8. CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER(s)
H. D. KRIBS, A. C. SIMPSON, AND L. J. MARK	N61339-79-C-0104
PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND ADDRESS	10. PROGRAM ELEMENT, PROJECT TASK
Instructional Science and Douglanment. Inc	AREA & WORK UNIT NUMBERS
5059 Newport Avenue	
San Diego California 92107	PF 62757N
1 CONTROLLING OFFICE NAME AND ADDRESS	12 REPORT DATE
	October 1983
	13. NUMBER OF PAGES
	, 100
A MONITORING AGENCY NAME & ADDRESS(1) different from Contro	olling Office) 15- SECURITY CLASS. (a) this report)
	UNCLASSIFIED
	154. DECLASSIFICATION DOWNGRADING
	SCHEDULE
Approved for public release; distribution 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abatract entered in Block 20,	unlimited.
Approved for public release; distribution 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, 8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES	unlimited.
Approved for public release; distribution 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, 8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES	unlimited.
Approved for public release; distribution 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, 8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 9. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse eide if necessary and identify by	unlimited. 11 dillerent from Report) block number)
Approved for public release; distribution 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, 8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 9. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by Media selection, ISD, Automated Aids to ISE	unlimited. <i>il dillerent from Report)</i> <i>block number)</i>), Instructional Design, Media
Approved for public release; distribution 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, 8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 9. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by Media selection, ISD, Automated Aids to ISE 2. ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by	unlimited. <i>if different from Report)</i> <i>block number)</i>), Instructional Design, Media
Approved for public release; distribution 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the observed in Block 20, 8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 9. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by Media selection, ISD, Automated Aids to ISE 0. ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by As part of an overall automated aids to inso project, the Automated Instructional Media developed. The model was designed to be fl allows the user to define the media pool of instructional characteristics. All aspects A user's guide is included for using the sy	unlimited. <i>II dillerent from Report)</i> <i>block number)</i> 0, Instructional Design, Media <i>block number)</i> tructional systems development Selection (AIMS) model was exible and widely applicable. It up to 90 potential media, and 90 of the media pool are updatable. system.
Approved for public release; distribution 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, a supplementary notes a supplementary notes b KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by Media selection, ISD, Automated Aids to ISE c ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by As part of an overall automated aids to inso project, the Automated Instructional Media leveloped. The model was designed to be fl illows the user to define the media pool of instructional characteristics. All aspects i user's guide is included for using the sy D i JAN 73 1473 EDITION OF I NOV 65 IS OBSOLETE	unlimited. <i>II different from Report)</i> <i>block number)</i>), Instructional Design, Media <i>block number)</i> tructional systems development Selection (AIMS) model was exible and widely applicable. It up to 90 potential media, and 90 of the media pool are updatable. ystem.
Approved for public release; distribution 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, 8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 1. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by 1. dedia selection, ISD, Automated Aids to ISC ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by is part of an overall automated aids to ins project, the Automated Instructional Media leveloped. The model was designed to be fl 11 lows the user to define the media pool of nstructional characteristics. All aspects user's guide is included for using the sy 5. CORM 1. JAN 73 1473 EDITION OF 1 NOV 65 IS OBSOLETE SE	unlimited. <i>II different from Report)</i> <i>biock number)</i>), Instructional Design, Media <i>block number)</i> tructional systems development Selection (AIMS) model was exible and widely applicable. It up to 90 potential media, and 90 of the media pool are updatable. <i>ystem</i> .

SUMMARY

A media selection model was designed and implemented by Instructional Science and Development, Inc., as part of an overall automated system to facilitate the instructional systems development (ISD) process. The development of the Automated Instructional Media Selection (AIMS) model was based on six goals. These goals were to:

a. <u>Maximize the use of pertinent information</u>. This was accomplished by automating the non-judgmental, data manipulation tasks of the selection process. The system accepts media pools of up to 90 media, and 90 instructional characteristics.

b. <u>Provide flexibility in adapting the model to specific problems and changing technologies</u>. This was accomplished by allowing user-definable media pools, and editing functions which allow changing and adding to both the media pools and required instructional characteristics.

c. <u>Provide consideration for student stage of learning</u>. The user-definable aspect of the system allows for inclusion of any instructional characteristics.

d. <u>Allow for better selection of hands-on training devices</u>. Since the system is adaptable to any training situation, there is no bias toward cognitive, learning center type media.

e. <u>Allow for variations in the stage of front-end analysis</u>. Media selections may be as general or as specific as available knowledge about potential instructional characteristics permits.

f. Reduce the time, effort and costs required for media selection procedures.

Acces MTIS DTIC Unang Just	CEASI TAB Dounced fightion					
By Distribution/						
Ava Dist	Avail and/or Special					
A/1						
DTIC						

1

ī

FOREWORD

The Instructional System Development (ISD) model was designed to apply a systems logic approach to training program development projects. ISD approaches apparently provide superior training programs, but they are costly to implement. The Human Factors Laboratory of the Naval Training Equipment Center (NAVTRAEQUIPCEN) is undertaking a project to provide computer aids and automation to some of the ISD steps to help reduce the cost and labor intensiveness of training program development.

One effort under this project produced a Computer Aided System for Developing Aircrew Training (CASDAT), a system for aiding several steps of the ISD Process. The current report describes the development of an Automated Instructional Media Selection model (AIMS), which was designed to improve upon the media selection component of CASDAT and other previous media selection techniques.

AIMS is more applicable to a greater variety of situations than previous approaches because the user defines and rates media, media characteristics and training objective requirements to fit the peculiarities of each situation. The system averages the user's ratings to indicate the relative capability of each providing instruction for individual training in medium The ratings also are tallied across objectives. training objectives, to provide the number and percent of objectives that can be trained with each medium and the specific objectives that can be trained with any combination of the media. AIMS also offers good opportunities for computer automation.

Sample applications of AIMS are provided to illustrate use of the system for defining and selecting both standard. general-purpose media as well as specific-function training AIMS can be used "as is" to aid in routine efforts to devices. design, evaluate and select instructional media. (Early experience indicates that a 75 percent savings in time required for the media selection process can result from the use of AIMS.) Plans are being made to implement AIMS in actual training analysis and design applications at the NAVTRAEQUIPCEN. (CASDAT already is being used to provide solutions to real-world ISD problems for the Navy.)

The best future for AIMS and media selection and design in general appears to require research and development (R&D) efforts to define optimal approaches and data for application of AIMS to a variety of training design problems. A new R&D effort at this Laboratory--to incorporate computer aids such as AIMS and CASDAT into a more comprehensive system applicable to the range of Marine Corps jobs--may provide progress in this direction.

Appreciation is expressed to Mr. Joe Puig for assistance in reviewing AIMS and this report and to Mr. Pat Smith for refining the computer programs so that AIMS could be reviewed.

2

anno ARTHUR S. BLAIWES, Ph.D. Scientific Officer

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section		Page
I	INTRODUCTION	7
	PROBLEM	7
	PURPOSE	8
	APPROACH	8
	RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS	9
	RECOMMENDATIONS	9
II	REQUIREMENTS FOR AUTOMATED MEDIA SELECTION	10
	EXISTING MODELS USED IN NAVY AIRCREW TRAINING	10
	TAEG Model TECEP Technique "MIL-T" Model LAMPS MARK III Model	11 14 17 20
	CRITIQUE OF EXISTING MODELS	22
	FUNCTIONS OF AUTOMATED MEDIA SELECTION	26
III	AUTOMATED INSTRUCTIONAL MEDIA SELECTION (AIMS)	31
	DESIGN AND OPERATION OF AIMS	31
	GOALS OF AIMS	39
	Maximize the Use of Information Pertinent to Media Selection Provide Flexibility in Defining a Model ConsiderStudent Stage of Learning Allow More Detailed Selection of Training Devices Allow for Variations in the Stage of Front-End Analysis	39 41 41 46 51
IV	DEMONSTRATION OF THE MODEL	53
	PROBLEM ANALYSIS	53
	DEFINITION	53
	INFORMATION ANALYSIS	56
	MATCHING AND TRADE-OFFS	56

Z

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

Section		Page
۷	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	5 9
	CONCLUSIONS	5 9
	RECOMMENDATIONS	61
REFERENC	ES	62,
APPENDIX		
	USER'S GUIDE	65

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
1	A sample page from the TAEG media selection matrix	13
2	A sample selection worksheet from TECEP technique	16
3.	Algorithm for the MIL-T media selection model	18
4	Key to the meaning of Q1-Q5 decision points in the MIL-T selection model	19
5	Selection worksheet from the LAMPS MARK III media selection model	21
6	Flow of tasks in automated media selection with automated aids	27
7	A sample media listing	33
8	A sample listing of instructional characteristics	34
9	A sample completed media pool with each medium's ability to deliver each characteristic rated on a 0-5 scale	35
10	A sample selection worksheet from a media pool entitled "Pool"	37
11	A sample worksheet from a media pool entitled "DASS"	38
12	A sample media selection made by the AIMS model for a single objective	40
13	Summary of proposed methods/media selectior	48
14	Level of specificity of media selections and stage of front-end analysis	52
15	Matrix of instructional attributes/media alternatives weightings for DTS media selection	57

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1	Seven characteristics of an adequate media selection model	23
2	"Hands-On" learning levels used in the LAMPS MARK III media selection model	43
3	Priority assignment for "hands-on" media pool in the LAMPS MARK III media selection model	44
4	Categorization of tasks in the familiarization stage in the TA-4J advanced jet Navy undergraduate pilot training program	45
5	Instructional characteristics for DTS media selection	54
6	Summary of DTS media selection rankings	58
7	Benefits of AIMS	60

SECTION I

INTRODUCTION

The Naval Training Equipment Center (NAVTRAEQUIPCEN) has been involved with the acquisition of aviation weapon systems training for many years. To accomplish such acquisition more effectively, the NAVTRAEQUIPCEN implemented an instructional systems development (ISD) model which applies systems logic to curriculum development. The cost of ISD technology can be justified through three methods. The first of these is an intuitive argument that concerted systematic approaches are better than isolated haphazard methods. The second is demonstrations of the advantages of its products. The third is in modifications to the model which result in improvements in its cost effectiveness. All three approaches have been used in the past. However, the latter is of major concern in this report. A primary goal of the NAVTRAEQUIPCEN is to reduce the cost of the ISD application.

Several efforts toward reducing ISD costs have been undertaken recently. A preliminary study supported by the NAVTPAEOHIPCEN identified several areas where automated aids to ISD were possible. These areas included everything from the analysis of student entry level through development and evaluation of materials. ¹ A related effort supported by the NAVTRAEQUIPCEN included the implementation of a generic data base to be used in the ISD phases of analysis, design, and development of Navy aircrew training programs. ² The present study was conducted to assist in the design, development, and acquisition of a media selection component of the NAVTRAEQUIPCEN developing prototype system for aiding the application of the ISD process.

PROBLEM

The media selection component of ISD has been a time-consuming, problematic task in Navy aircrew training development. A number of structured media selection models have been developed to systematize and standardize the media selection process. However, most of these approaches have proven to be of limited value. This is due to several factors. Some are too broad or general and of little value for more advanced or specific training programs. Others tend to overemphasize media for cognitive learning tasks, even though a significant number of military tasks require extensive "hands-on" training. Some models tend to be overly theoretical, ignoring important practical considerations such as cost or availability of equipment. And almost all of the models suffer from rigidity; that is, an inability to be adapted and updated to new technologies, emerging weapon systems, and changing needs.

¹J. Hughes, et al., <u>Functional Specifications for Computer Aided</u> Training Systems Development and Management (CATSDM) Support Functions, NAVTRAEQUIPCEN Technical Report 77-C-0018-1 (San Diego, CA: Courseware, Inc., July 1978).

N. C. Marcue, A. S. Blaiwes, & R. G. Bird, <u>Computer Aided System for</u> <u>Developing Aircrew Training (CASDAT):</u> An Automated Aid for Developing Aircrew <u>Training</u>, NAVTRAEOUIPCEN Technical Report 79-C-0076-1 (Arlington, VA: Veda, Inc., March 1983.

A variety of factors contributes to the difficulty and complexity of the media selection task. First, the nature of military jobs poses intrinsic difficulty in selecting an optimal media mix. Frequently, job performance involves a combination of procedural, perceptual, motor, and knowledge components, including decision making, which must be integrated. Thus, the learning task may not consist of discrete components which are easily associated with media hardware attributes. Likewise, it is often difficult to associate one specific medium with the learning task given a variety of attributes required of a medium in order to best learn to perform the task. It is often just as much the use of a medium and the quality of the lessonware, as it is the unique attributes of the media itself, which determine a successful media application.

In addition, instructional hardware has evolved consult range of equipment is available for consideration. Fur more information on the instructional hardware is seldom ava there is little basis for empirically determining which the attributes are important to specific learning tasks.³

.ually and a wide
rmore, unbiased
le. Consequently,
lia hardware

PURPOSE

Given the problems inherent in the media selection process, five interrelated goals were established as specifications for the automated media selection model. The goals were to:

a. Provide the capability to maximize the use of information pertinent to the media selection problem.

b. Provide flexibility in modifying the model to reflect specific problems and changing technology of media or media guidelines.

c. Provide for consideration of student stage of learning.

d. Allow greater, more detailed selection of training devices, such as simulators or other hands-on devices.

e. Allow for variations in the stage of front-end analysis with emphasis on the needs of planning for emerging weapon and training systems.

The purpose of the effort was to develop a working media selection model as an automated aid for ISD, demonstrate and evaluate the operation of the model in the NAVTRAEQUIPCEN environment, and provide plans for further development, demonstrations and applications of the model.

APPROACH

The effort was organized into four tasks. First, the literature on media selection was reviewed with the intent of drawing the best features from existing procedures and incorporating them where possible in an automated

³R. Braby, <u>An Evaluation of Ten Techniques for Choosing Instructional</u> <u>Media</u>, TAEG Report No. 8 (Orlando, FL: Naval Training Equipment Center, Training Analysis and Evaluation Group, December 1973).

aid. Second, the functions of an automated aid were selected based on potential advantages offered. The third task was design, development and debugging of the programs for the prototype media selection model and development of a detailed user guide. The final task was application of the model to an aircrew training problem to test its utility.

RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS

It was determined through the review of media selection techniques and the analysis of tasks performed during media selection that a common logic exists in choosing media that are effective for training. Matching the required attributes of instruction to attributes of media is central to most media models. An automated instructional media selection system was designed and developed based on that logic. The user is provided a flexible and simple data base development capability. The data base consists of instructional attributes by which to analyze information, such as learning objectives or task statements, and a media pool. Up to 90 media with 90 associated attributes may be defined by the user to analyze any number of learning objectives or task statements required by the user.

Emphasis was placed on designing the system to be a problem solving aid. That is, while existing sets of media pools and attributes may be used, the user is encouraged to create a problem specific data base. Each media selection problem is considered uni ue until analyzed otherwise.

As illustrated through examples and demonstrations described later in the report, the system allows a much more effective instructional development effort. Several areas of medic selection which are not well attended to in some models are provided. These include stage of learning considerations, detailed selection of trainers, and variations in the stage of front-end analysis. Ultimately such matters are defined only through efforts of the user, but the system can be an efficient tool for arriving at these definitions. In addition to enriching the media selection process, the system also will save time and labor. A small scale comparison with manual selection showed better than a 4:1 time savings.

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is not anticipated that any extensive additions are needed to the system. It should be recognized, however, that the system deals only with training effectiveness. Costs can be dealt with only on a relative basis such as "high," "medium," or "low." It would be valuable to add a cost component, several of which exist, for the purpose of detailed cost comparisons and evaluation.

In addition, the system offers promise for other types of media problems. The analysis and design of trainer requirements, evaluation of new training devices considered for acquisition, impact evaluation of changing media technologies, and comparison of similar media are all possible areas for study and should be explored.

SECTION II

REQUIREMENTS FOR AUTOMATED MEDIA SELECTION

A review of the literature on media selection was performed to determine the media selection requirements to be incorporated into an automated aid to ISD. The five goals, which were established as specifications for the automated model, were used as the framework for conducting the review. The goals are:

a. Provide the capability to maximize the use of information pertinent to the media selection problem.

b. Provide flexibility in modifying the model to reflect specific problems and changing technology of media or media guidelines.

c. Provide for consideration of student stage of learning.

d. Allow greater, more detailed selection of training devices, such as simulators or other hands-on devices.

e. Allow for variations in the stage of front-end analysis with emphasis on the needs of planning for emerging weapon and training systems.

The literature review served three purposes. First, existing media selection models were examined to identify procedures and functions which might be relevant to the automated model. Second, the existing media selection models were analyzed within the context of the five goals and characteristics (discussed in a later section) of an adequate model in order to determine inadequacies of existing models and define requirements for future models. Third, the functions to be included in the automated media selection model were specified as a result of the review and critique. The following subsections describe the three aspects of the literature review.

EXISTING MODELS USED IN NAVY AIRCREW TRAINING

A sample of representative Navy aircrew training objectives was used to assess the procedures and functions of four media selection models which have been used in Navy aircrew training systems. The models are: (1) the Training Effectiveness and Cost Effectiveness Prediction (TECEP) model as originally developed by the Navy Training Analysis and Evaluation Group (TAEG), $\frac{4}{2}$ (2) the Training Effectiveness-Cost Effectiveness Prediction (TECEP) technique as it was enhanced by TAEG, $\frac{5}{3}$ (3) the MIL-T model

⁵R. Braby et al., <u>A Technique for Choosing Cost Effective Instructional</u> <u>Delivery Systems</u>, TAEG Report No. 16 (Orlando, FL: Naval Training Equipment Center, Training Analysis and Evaluation Group, April 1975).

⁴R. Braby, et al., <u>Staff Study on Cost and Training Effectiveness of</u> <u>Proposed Training Systems</u>, TAEG Report No. 1 (Orlando, FL: Neval Training Equipment Center, Training Analysis and Evaluation Group, 1972).

described in the Military Specification: Training Requirements for Aviation Weapon Systems (MIL- 29053) 6 and (4) the LAMPS MARK III methods/media model developed by IBM. 7 To simplify discussion throughout this report, the original TECEP model is referred to as the TAEG model and the enhanced model is identified as the TECEP technique.

Each of the models performs the following five tasks with varying degrees of detail found in the procedures:

- a. Identify specific objectives and training tasks
- b. Analyze each specific objective by attribute
- c. Match instructional attributes against defined media pool attributes
- d. Rank media for training effectiveness
- e. Perform costs/constraints trade-offs for final selection.

Since cost effectiveness considerations were beyond the scope of the effort, the models were evaluated to the point of rank-ordering the media for training effectiveness. The requirements of the last task, final selection based on trade-offs, were only reviewed briefly. The procedures for each model are summarized below.

TAEG MODEL. The TAEG model was developed to apply the concepts of learning theory, economic analysis, and other information acquired by use of the scientific method to the task of training system design. The model consists of nine steps. However, the last five steps relate to selecting media on the basis of cost effectiveness, rather than training effectiveness, and they are not discussed. During these steps the media alternatives are rankordered and trade-offs are performed for final selection. A description of the four training effectiveness steps is provided below.

a. <u>Task Description and Analysis</u>. Each task to be performed is described in terms of the skills and knowledges required to accomplish the functions. Where possible, specific training objectives should be provided as the task descriptions.

b. <u>Personnel Characteristics</u>. A definition of student entry level characteristics is used to determine the starting point for training.

⁶ <u>Military Specification:</u> Training Requirements for Aviation Weapon Systems, MIL-T-29053 (Orlando, FL: Naval Training Equipment Center, October 1977).

⁷ LAMPS MARK III Methods/Media Selection Model (Manassas, VA: IBM Federal System Division, 1979).

c. Training Tasks and Training Stages. Training tasks are organized into a series of stages that progress through prerequisite skills to advanced skills. The general characteristics of the tasks to be accomplished within each stage are identified as one of the following 13 task categories:

- (1) Recalling Facts and Principles
- (2) Recalling Procedures
- (3) Non-Verbal Identification
- (4) Non-Verbal Detection
- (5) Using Principles, Interpreting, Inferring
- (6) Making Decisions
- (7) Continuous Movement
- (8) Verbal Detection and Identification
- (9) Positioning and Serial Movement
- (10) Repetitive Movement
- (11) Written Verbalization
- (12) Oral Verbalization
- (13) Other Verbalization, including Signs.

d. Determination of Useful Media Options. The training system designer uses the media selection matrix to identify a cluster of media which satisfy the characteristics of specific training tasks. A sample page from the media selection matrix for the task category Non-Verbal Detection is provided in Figure 1. As shown, the first column, Task Categories, contains descriptions of the common behavioral attributes and examples for the task categories incorporated into the matrix. The next column, Task Elements. divides each task category into elements so learning guidelines can be associated with four standard elements of a task (stimulus, response, feedback, personal environment). The column Learning Guidelines, contains rules-ofthumb, based on learning theory, for designing and using a training system for a specific type of task. A total of 105 learning guidelines are identified and associated with the 13 task categories. The column, Implications for Media Selection, contains one or more implications associated with each learning guideline. They serve to simplify the task of determining if a specific medium facilitates the use of the learning guideline. The media pool consists of 20 options which are defined in a separate table. The "M" and "F" designations are described as notes at the bottom of the matrix. 8

⁸See footnote 4 on page 10.

NEDIA OPITONS

Ì

• 🕳

. . .

•

1
- 1

Figure 1. A sample page from the TAEG media selection matrix.

.

.

13

. ...

TECEP TECHNIQUE. The TECEP technique was designed to provide: (1) a set of learning guidelines appropriate to Navy job tasks, and (2) a method for selecting cost effective instructional delivery systems that support the use of those learning guidelines. Aagard and Braby report that the technique uses learning algorithms to combine and sequence the guidelines. ⁹ As defined by Braby, et al., "... a learning algorithm is a step-by-step prescription for a student to follow in learning any specific task in a class of learning tasks. ..." 10

Use of the TECEP technique requires expertise, and is perhaps best viewed as a job aid for an experienced training system designer. The TECEP technique is a three-step approach to media selection. The first step presents a set of learning guidelines and an algorithm for each class of training tasks. The second step identifies instructional delivery systems capable of supporting each set of learning guidelines and algorithm, while the third step provides a cost model for projecting the costs of each instructional delivery system alternative in a specific training setting. Only steps one and two are discussed below, since cost effectiveness considerations were beyond the scope of the effort.

The initial step is to classify and group the training objectives according to the type of learning algorithm required to accomplish the objective. This requires matching each training objective in the proposed training system with the learning algorithms for achieving the objective. A table describing the types of learning algorithms and the characteristics (action verbs, behavioral attributes, and examples) of the training objectives that they support is used to compare against the characteristics of the objectives. The 12 types of learning algorithms are:

- a. Recalling bodies of knowledge
- b. Using verbal information
- c. Rule learning and using
- d. Decision making
- e. Detecting
- f. Classifying
- g. Identifying symbols
- h. Voice communicating

⁹J. A. Aagard and R. Braby, <u>Learning Guidelines and Algorithms for</u> Types of Training Objectives, TAEG Report No. 23 (Orlando, FL: Naval Training Equipment Center, Training Analysis and Evaluation Group, March 1976).

 $^{10}\,\text{See}$ footnote 5 on page 10.

i. Recalling procedures and positioning movement

j. Steering and guiding; continuous movement

k. Performing gross motor skills

1. Attitude learning

The second step is to identify instructional delivery systems that support the use of the learning algorithm required for each training objective. This step actually consists of two substeps: (1) identification of instructional delivery systems (media options), and (2) practicality tests.

In the first substep, all of the instructional delivery systems with stimulus, response, and feedback capabilities required to support the events in the learning algorithm are identified. Instructional Delivery System Selection Charts developed for each of the 12 learning algorithms serve as job aids for training system designers. As shown in the example in Figure 2, a list of instructional delivery systems is provided across the top of the chart, while special criteria are listed down the left side. An "X" is placed in the cells of the systems that meet the special criteria. The training system designer can easily identify candidate delivery systems by checking the relevant selection criteria on the left side and looking for the delivery systems that have an "X" in that cell.

An alternate approach can be used to consider instructional delivery systems not included in the charts. Two job aids are provided for experienced training system designers: (1) a list of 55 generic media characteristics which includes stimulus, response, and feedback characteristics that can be used to describe types of instructional media, and (2) a list describing 89 general types of media that can be incorporated into instructional delivery systems. With these, the generic media characteristics required to implement the learning algorithms can be specified and the media containing these characteristics can be identified. This approach requires expert knowledge of media, the algorithms, and the subject matter.

The second substep in step two is testing the candidate instructional delivery systems for practicality and eliminating impractical delivery system candidates prior to cost estimating in the third step. Each delivery system is evaluated in terms of the following 11 criteria:

- a. Marginal technical solution
- b. State of the art system
- c. Size of the system
- d. Interface with existing programs
- e. Lead time required to produce system
- f. Budget cycle constraints

INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY SYSTEM CHART FOR THE ALGORITHM

ł.

RECALLING BODIES OF KNOWLEDGE

	Directions:		Alternative Instructional Delivery Systems									
	To choose a delivery system: 1. Place a "J" (light pencil) in boxes representing criteria (rows) that must be met. 2. Select the delivery systems (columns) that		Delivery Approaches Permitting the Application of All Learning Guidelines and Algorithm Delivery Approaches NOT Permitting Complete Application of Learning Guidelines and Algorithm									
								ector, 11 Tests	ch			
	designated by a "√". These are the candidate delivery systems.			ich ine -	with 19 Testa	Text - ith Self- its	il Carrel with its, AV Modules oring Tests	Classroom with Overhead Proj Paper and Penc	Study Using Handbooks, Test ks	al Television or CCTV Without ests	Text - Linear Jutor Scured Test	
Criteria for Selecting Instructional Delivery Systems			CAI	Teaching Ma Branching	Microfiche Self-Scorin	Programmed Branching w Scoring Tea	Audio Visua Program Tex and Self-Sc	Traditional Instructor, Texts, and	Independent Textbooks, and Workboo	Instruction Broadrast c Feedback, T	Frogrammed with Instru Criterion 1	
Stimulus Criteria												
	Limited		Ţ							×		
	Full		Îx	<u> </u>			x		ļ	x		
Visua	1 Spectrum											
	Pull Color		x	×	x		x	x	x	×		
🖨 Audio												
	Voice Sound Range		x	X			X	×		×		
	Full Sound Range						x			1		
Training Setting Cr	iteria							_				
Individual Trai	nees at Fixed Location		x	x	x	x	×	x		x	x	
 Individual Trai Instruction at 	nees with Simultaneous Many Locations									x		
 Individual Trail Instruction at 	nees with Independent Any Location				×	x			×		x	
Small Group								×		×		
Lerge Group at	a Single Location							x		×		
• Team Setting												
AcainiStrative Criteria Site of Courseware and Special Hard- ware Development												
	Local				×	x	×	×	X		×	
	Central			x	×	X	X		X	X	X	
 Hagnitude of Ac 	quisition Cost				 		· ·		ļ			
	Low		L		×	×		×	×	 	×	
	Wigh		×	×	<u> </u>		×		<u> </u>	<u>×</u>		

Figure 2. A sample selection worksheet from the TECEP technique.

16

<u>ر</u> ۲

g. User acceptance of innovations

- h. Resources for courseware development
- i. High cost system alternative
- j. Learning style of trainees
- k. Any other applicable constraints.¹¹

MIL-T MODEL. The media selection model described in MIL-T-29053 uses a sorting algorithm to divide objectives into categories and then select media alternatives from the following media pool:

- a. Workbook
- b. Mediated Interactive Lecture
- c. Slide tape
- d. Videotape
- e. Random Access Slide
- f. CAI
- g. CAI Simulation
- h. Simulation
- i. Actual Equipment

Figure 3 depicts the selection algorithm. The decision points (Q1-Q5) refer to questions 1 through 5 described in Figure 4. These questions attempt to determine the critical features of an objective which determine the best media for teaching the objective. Question 1 is concerned with the type of learning involved and Question 2 focuses on the level of content. Question 3 is concerned with variability in the examples and practice items necessary for accomplishing an objective. Question 4 focuses directly on the minimal media attributes necessary to teach an objective, while Question 5 addresses the memory load involved. To use the model, one enters the selection algorithm at the box labeled Q1 in the center of the algorithm. Then, one proceeds through the decision points answering the questions until a terminal point is reached. The terminal points (M1-M44) refer to three or four media selected for each training objective from the pool listed in rank order according to their desirability for an objective, or provide additional information or questions to be asked in the selection process.¹²

¹¹See footnote 5 on page 10.

¹²See footnote 6 on page 11.



Figure 3. Algorithm for the MIL-T media selection model.

```
Q1 is the number of the choice which best answers this
question for a given objective:
    What is the level of behavior expected of the student
    in this segment?
        1 = familiarization
        2 = discriminated recall
        3 = rule using
    Q2 is the number of the choice which best answers this
question for a given objective:
    What level of content is being taught in this segment?
        1 = familiarization
        2 = paired associate
        3 = concept
        4 = rule
    Q3 is the number of the choice which best answers this
question for a given objective:
    Is the minimum critical set of instances the student
    needs to see small or large?
        1 = small
        \overline{2} = large
    Q4 is the number of the choice which best answers this
question for a given objective:
    What is the minimum display requirement?
        1 = verbal and/or symbolic and/or static simple
            pictorial
        2 = verbal and/or symbolic and/or static complex
            pictorial
        3 = dynamic pictorial
        4 = interactive
    Q5 is the number of the choice which best answers this
question for a given objective:
    If the memorization component of this objective large
    or small?
        1 = small
        2 = 1 \text{ arge}
```

Figure 4. Key to the meaning of Q1-Q5 decision points in the MIL-T selection model.

LAMPS MARK III MODEL. The LAMPS MARK III model was designed to provide a systematic analysis of the methods/media requirements for each objective in the LAMPS MARK III training program. The model emphasizes three major factors in prioritizing objectives and selecting media:

- a. "Hands-on" versus "cognitive" requirements
- b. Instructional characteristics required
- c. Level and type of learning to be achieved.

The model assumes a subject matter expert and an instructional technologist work together to make judgmental decisions about these three factors. The technique requires going through the following five-step process for each objective using the sample worksheet shown in Figure 5.

a. Determine if objective is hands-on or cognitive. An objective is "hands-on" if it requires the use of operational equipment or simulations to learn the specified behavior. Any objective which can be fulfilled through verbal, pictorial, symbolic, or any other non-operational means is classified as "cognitive."

b. <u>Determine instructional characteristics</u>. The user determines the instructional characteristics, or media attributes, required to accomplish an objective effectively and efficiently by checking off the essential requirements on the worksheet.

c. <u>Select appropriate methods/media</u>. Once the instructional characteristics are checked off on the worksheet, they are matched against the capabilities of each alternative in the media pool. This is accomplished by use of separate media-by-characteristics matrices for hands-on and cognitive media.

d. <u>Determine learning classification</u>. At this point, the selected media are identified on the worksheet with no ranking. Objectives are then classified by the assessed level of learning. The learning level categories are shown under the columns for hands-on and cognitive tasks on the left side of Figure 5. For hands on tasks, the fidelity requirements of the media used are likely to increase with each level of learning. For cognitive skills, mastervis gained through a progression of learning experiences.

e. <u>Prioritize selected media</u>. The level of learning is used to prioritize the methods/media selections. Priority assignment tables (one for cognitive and one for hands-on) rank order the media in the pool by each level of learning. Using the priority assignment tables the selected media are ranked by placing the appropriate number next to the media on the worksheet. ¹³

¹³See footnote 7 on page 11.

F. Three "D" Mockup G. Two "D" Mockup C', Mation Pict. Video D. Procedural Trainer A. OP Equip/OP Env E. Part Task Traincr J. Group Discussion B. OP Equip/Lab Plethods thedia C. Team Trainer D'. Sid-s Audio H'. Lect. Demo Comments B' F A Side K'. Workbook A Hands-On E. Audio A' CAI A | Cognitive F' SIJ G. M.: L' TM. æ œ Comments INSTRUCTIONAL CHARACTERISTICS Crew/Team Interaction Special Requirements Diagrams Drawings Immediate 'Response Point-Touch-Alark Manipulate Equip Immediate/Error Verbal/Written Audio - Voice Verhal: Text Post-Session Environment Kinesthetic Evaluation Automated Pictorial Instructor Motion Response J Feedback Periodic Color Intrinsic Display Tactile Covert Visual Audio Peer Key Description of Instructional Objectives Perform Procedures Familiarity/Orient Degraded/Unique Decision Making Perform Mission **Rules**'Symbols Perform Job Hands-On Familiarity Procedure Cognitive Concept Position _ OhJ. No. Analysi Dute

Figure 5. Selection worksheet from the LAMPS MARK III media selection model. Alust have comment to Amplify

Time Variability

Motion

NAVTRAEQUIPCEN 79-C-0104-1

CRITIQUE OF EXISTING MODELS

The four media models -- TAEG, TECEP, MIL-T, and LAMPS MARK III -- were evaluated by the study team within the context of the five goals previously discussed for the automated aid and seven characteristics (see Table 1) specified for an adequate model in order to identify existing inadequacies and determine requirements. The characteristics of an adequate media selection model were defined in a study conducted by TAEG to compare and evaluate ten techniques for selecting instructional media. ¹⁴ Nine detailed characteristics were recommended as a set of guidelines to be used to improve and expand existing models. Seven of these characteristics, which were considered relevant to the present effort, are summarized in Table 1.

Starting with the first characteristic in Table 1, it was judged that the four existing models were techniques which assisted professionals in handling media selection with varying degrees of adequacy. In terms of the last characteristic, several of the models were previously tested with objectives from several projects and none of them was considered to be widely applicable. Each model was found to be limited and inflexible in one or all of the remaining five characteristics summarized in Table 1. The following paragraphs describe each model.

Experience with the MIL-T model indicated that it was adequate for grouping objectives into general categories of media requirements, but there were problems and limitations. First, the limited media pool kept the selections at a broad, general level. There was no provision for making finer comparisons, such as among types of CAI or types of simulators. Further, it seemed difficult to add additional media to the pool, since the logic governing the relationships among the instructional characteristics and the media themselves was not explicit.

A second problem with the MIL-T model was its emphasis on "cognitive," learning center type media. Workbook and mediated interactive lecture each appear in 27 of the 44 terminal points. Objectives considered to be "handson" were generally lumped into one broad "simulator" category, which requires another selection process (not provided by the model) to be further defined. In fact, only three terminal points present simulator as an alternative.

A third difficulty was the assumption that the user was knowledgeable in esoteric instructional technology. Phrases such as "discriminatedrecall level of behavior." "paired-associate level of content" and "static complex pictorial" are likely to have little meaning to a person with strictly subject matter expertise and general training experience within a given area. Yet that same person might be the one best suited to clearly define the essential characteristics required of the media. Even though the model is automated in the CASDAT implementation of the system, its usefulness was limited.

¹⁴ See footnote 3 on page 8.
¹⁵ See footnote 2 on page 7.

TABLE 1. SEVEN CHARACTERISTICS OF AN ADEQUATE MEDIA SELECTION MODEL

	Characteristic	Description
1.	Technique for Professionals	Tool to assist instructional technolo- gists in performing a judgmental task that cannot be fully proceduralized. Formal process with a set of operation- ally defined terms and logic based on theoretical concepts about the processes of teaching and learning.
2.	Useful Variables	Two types: (1) variables that describe a training program as a learning system (i.e., stimulus modes, response modes, feedback modes, learning strategies, and learning styles.) and (2) variables that define costs/constraints trade-offs.
3.	Media Alternatives	Extensive pool, including both tradi- tional and new forms of instructional media, and media for supporting classroom and individualized instruction, on-the- job training.
4.	Training System Descriptions	Descriptions of: (1) broad instructional strategies for general types of learning tasks, (2) specific mixes of media for specific learning tasks, and (3) specific design and use parameters to be incor- porated into training system specifica- tions for production or procurement of media packages.
5.	Growth Potential	Capability for adding or changing media types, learning guidelines, and economic factors. Applicable in a broad variety of current and emerging training situations.
6.	Data Manipulation	Emphasis on decision making, with data retrieval and processing as a minor task. Manual computations and mechanics of combining factors through the use of automatic data processing, two dimension tables, and simple math models.
7.	Testing	Tested with objectives from several training projects. Adaptable to a variety of training projects.

Application of the TECEP technique proved to be a laborious task. Several data retrieval and matrix matching tasks appeared to be well suited to automation to reduce labor intensiveness. In general, the model was not flexible to user requirements. No technique for adding media or instructional attributes to the Instructional Systems Delivery Charts was provided and use of the alternative approach was difficult and time-consuming although the media pool is extensive. Variations in the level of descriptions of media alternatives were not included. The media selections were quite specific, rather than broad or overly general. The model was not adaptable to variations in the stage of development for proposed training programs.

In contrast, the TAEG model provided more user flexibility. The format of the media selection matrix made it fairly easy to use because the task categories, task elements, learning guidelines and media pool were contained in one matrix. The existing media pool was limited and the selections were specific, but it was stated that additional media options could be added.

Experience with the LAMPS MARK III model was generally a positive one. The worksheet approach, where the user simply checks off the appropriate instructional characteristics, has several advantages. First, it was simple and straightforward, requiring little interpretation of esoteric terminology. Second, it allowed the user to focus on the single task of matching objectives to instructional attributes. This made it possible to complete the matching task quickly and with a minimum of fatigue. The process of going through the media pool matrices and selecting the media with the required instructional characteristics was time consuming and mechanical. These characteristics made this process a prime candidate for automation.

The media pool options were broad and general, but probably suited to the requirements of the LAMPS MARK III training program. A comprehensive, but generalized, set of cognitive media is included in the media pool. For any given cognitive medium listed in the pool, a number of devices, methods, and techniques can be employed for actual implementation. Where minimal instructional data are available for making selections, cost and practicality most influence the media to be selected. The model selects generalized "handson" devices, primarily on the basis of fidelity requirements indicated by the level of learning. The design of these devices is assumed to take place at a later date based on the instructional objectives. No capability is provided, however, for assessing the value of specific device parameters such as stated in characteristic 4 (third part) of Table 1.

The relationship between the characteristics identified as inadequate in the existing models and the goals established for the automated aid are described below. To facilitate the discussion, the five goals are summarized as:

a. Maximize the use of pertinent information (Goal 1).

b. Provide flexibility to modify the model to reflect specific problems and changing technology (Goal 2).

c. Consider student stage of learning (Goal 3).

d. Allow more detailed selection of training devices (Goal 4).

e. Allow for variations in the stage of front-end analysis (Goal 5).

Starting with characteristic two in Table 1, each of the models provides a predetermined set of variables to be used in analyzing a given media selection problem. The usefulness of these variables changes considerably from one training situation to another. The more flexibility the media selection team has in defining the useful variables, the better the model will address the given media selection problem. Therefore, the inadequacies found in defining useful variables relate to the requirements identified in all of the goals.

All of the models were considered inadequate on characteristic three, media alternatives. Each model provided a limited number of options in the media pool and the descriptions were broad and general. Although the TECEP technique has an alternative approach with an extensive media pool to select from, it was too time-consuming and tedious to be considered feasible for large training programs. These inadequacies support the requirements stated in Goals 1, 2, and 4.

None of the models satisfied the requirements of characteristic four, training system descriptions. The models provide descriptions of either broad instructional strategies for general tasks or specific media mixes for specific tasks. They do not permit detailed descriptions which could be incorporated into training system specifications for media packages. The capability to address different types of training system descriptions is required if the technique is to be applicable to a variety of media selection problems. This inadequacy relates to the requirements of Goals 1, 2, 4, and 5.

Each of the models was deficient in terms of characteristic five, growth potential. There was limited capability for adding to or changing the parameters of any of the models. Each model offers a predefined approach for analyzing a given training situation. The issue is one of which media selection model to use, not how to change the model parameters. The capability for adaptation supports all five of the goals.

Characteristic six, data manipulation, supports the concept of an automated aid to media selection for the ISD process. The inadequacies described in existing models were used to derive the requirements outlined below.

FUNCTIONS OF AUTOMATED MEDIA SELECTION

The functions to be incorporated into the automated aid to ISD were derived from the literature review on the current status of media selection and the evaluation of existing models used in Navy aircrew training. As described earlier, the typical media selection model accomplishes five tasks: (1) initially, a set of specific objectives and tasks is required; (2) these objectives and tasks are analyzed against a predetermined set of instructional characteristics/attributes; (3) the identified attributes are then matched against the attributes of the media in a predefined pool to select media alternatives; (4) the alternatives are rank-ordered for training effectiveness; and (5) the final media selection is based on costs/constraints tradeoffs.

An automated aid can perform these tasks more efficiently, as well as provide the user team of instructional technologists, media specialists, and subject matter experts with expanded capabilities and flexibility to adapt the process to the requirements of the media selection problem at hand. The scope of the expanded capabilities and flexibility requirements were based on the inadequacies described for existing models. The emphasis of the automated aid is or decision making with appropriate personnel performing judgmental tasks and the computer accomplishing tedious mechanical processing, matching, and retrieval tasks. The growth potential of the automated aid includes the capability to define an extensive media pool and provide variable descriptions (broad instructional strategies, or specific media mixes, or training system specifications) based on the information available in current and emerging training situations. Figure 6 presents a conceptual flow of the tasks in the expanded media selection process. To facilitate explanation of the expanded capabilities, the tasks shown in Figure 6 have been organized into the following five functions:

- a. Problem analysis
- b. Definition
- c. Information analysis
- d. Matching
- e. Trade-offs.

Beginning at the top of Figure 6, the first set of tasks in the automated model requires the user team to perform a problem analysis. First, they must determine whether any existing model meets the needs of this particular media selection problem. A variety of differences seems to occur in media selection problems: for example, emphasis on particular types of trainers which may be unique to the situation, differences in how one must account for entry level characteristics (such as reading problems or other learning handicaps), training which requires extensive on-the-job training or high performancebased instruction. If an existing model does not meet the needs, then there



Figure 6. Flow of tasks in automated media selection with automated aids.

÷...

÷ .



Figure 6. Continued. 28

له در ____

are two general reasons: (1) the attributes which must be used to describe the instruction are inadequate, and (2) the media pool, which is to be selected from is inadequate. Therefore, the problem analysis includes asking questions concerning these two aspects of media selection. If it is determined that different attributes or media are required, then the tasks in the definition phase are performed. These tasks are identified by a "2" in the flowchart. The user team identifies the relevant attributes for analysis of the instructional requirements, determines the media to be considered, and makes judgments on the media capabilities by defined attributes.

The user team now enters the information analysis phase. In this phase, the information available to describe the training requirements is analyzed to determine which attributes and perhaps how much capability the training system will require. Ordinarily, this is done on the basis of specific statements of objectives and tasks which are required to be performed. However, such specific information is not always available. Three additional forms of information are possible: (1) generic objectives and tasks, (2) equipment and personnel descriptions, and (3) mission descriptions. These are shown as "B," "C," and "D" in Figure 6. The tasks designated as "A" within the dotted line represent those found in typical media selection models.

If specific objectives and task statements exist, or time is available to determine them, then each objective may be analyzed by the attributes required for training and matched against the media pool. A different approach must be taken for the other three forms of information. If the training system analysis for an aircraft is not complete, CASDAT ¹⁶ is intended to provide generic tasks and objectives for any aircraft. The data base may be searched to determine past media selections for the generic objectives or the objectives reanalyzed for a newly specified media pool. If the past media selections appear to fit the new training situation, then the matching and trade-off phases may proceed.

However, trade-offs and constraints often differ from one media selection situation to another. A variety of conditions may occur which make the previous selections inappropriate for the new training systems. For example, trade-offs in prior analyses may have been based on fixed funds which required selecting less than the most effective media, whereas the new training system does not have cost restrictions.

If specific or generic task statements and/or objectives do not exist, the user must go to one of the other two forms of information shown in Figure 6 to describe the training requirements. The new job for which training is required may have equipment operation/maintenance and personnel descriptions. Lacking such equipment and personnel job descriptions, it may also be possible that a less detailed but sufficient description of the overall mission with references to the job to be trained can be utilized. In either case, the user needs to define a preliminary course outline which

¹⁶See footnote 2 on page 7.

contains the topics and sequence of topics with time to train by topic if possible. Then the user can determine the appropriate attributes required of media based on the broad topics in the course of training. This, of course, is in lieu of the availability of objectives. It is always desirable to select media for each objective when the information is available in the form of objectives.

The following section describes the design and operation of the prototype media selection model in terms of both the five goals and the five functions established for the automated aid to ISD.

SECTION III

AUTOMATED INSTRUCTIONAL MEDIA SELECTION (AIMS)

As described in the previous section, a framework was established to guide the development of AIMS. The framework consisted of: (1) the goals defined for an automated aid to media selection, (2) the characteristics of an adequate media selection model identified from the literature, and (3) an analysis of the functions to be performed in automated media selection. This section discusses two aspects of AIMS. First, it summarizes the design of AIMS in terms of the media selection functions it performs. Second, it illustrates the flexibility and power of AIMS in terms of the five goals established for automated media selection.

DESIGN AND OPERATION OF AIMS

The automated aspects of media selection depend on the judgments of ISD personnel who must determine what the training requirements are and how well media generally meet such requirements. The judgments, based upon learning theory, subject matter experience, media guidelines and other "principles," cannot be automated well. They must be left to human judgment as in the case with the media selection models reviewed earlier.

However, the basic logic in all of the media selection models reviewed is that of matching the required characteristics of instructional events to the attributes of media available. If a particular medium has all of the attributes needed to satisfy the intended instruction, that medium becomes a candidate. Those media not meeting the requirements are discarded from the list. The AIMS system is designed to automate this aspect of media selection. Other factors such as organizational constraints, policy, and costs are considered, but the logical matching of the required characteristics to media attributes is central.

The AIMS system is designed to provide rapid access to a data base of media and media combinations, cross-referenced with instructional characteristics. The system allows a user to input the instructional characteristics required for a given training objective, and the computer then selects media which can deliver the required characteristics, scores the training effectiveness of each medium, rank-orders the selected media/media combinations according to their effectiveness and prints out the results. The computer performs these tasks many hundreds of times faster than humanly possible.

Instructional characteristics such as equipment availability, equipment costs, task difficulty, task frequency, and stage of learning may be included as part of the selection process. Since the instructional attributes do not have to relate to effectiveness variables per se, it is possible to perform trade-offs for a variety of factors and constraints. The system is totally flexible so that the media and media combinations as well as the selection criteria themselves are determined by the requirements and constraints of the project at hand and not general notions of media effectiveness. Procedures for using the AIMS system are detailed in the User's Guide in the Appendix of this report. A summary of the major steps is presented here.
Five functions of media selection were previously discussed. They are: (1) problem analysis, (2) definition, (3) information analysis, (4) matching and (5) trade-offs. Of these, the AIMS system is of greatest assistance in the matching and trade-offs functions. The system also assists in the function of information analysis by reducing the time to record and store the results of the analysis of training objectives. As described earlier, depending on the stage of front-end analysis, information analysis can also take the form of generic objectives, functional hardware analysis, personnel job descriptions, or mission analysis. The AIMS system is designed to analyze all of these information sources in an efficient manner. The function of problem analysis and definition must be performed by ISD personnel in developing an AIMS data base for a media selection problem. The steps in using AIMS are:

a. Determine the Media to be Considered. The user of the system should first make a list of all the media, or combinations of media, to be included in the pool. It is advisable, at this stage, to allow a wide range of alternatives for a given project. If need be, the pool can easily be narrowed if a shorter version is desired. AIMS allows the definition of any pool of up to 90 media and 90 attributes. After input of the media pool AIMS will print the media pool list. Figure 7 shows a sample media pool listing. It is a broad list including both cognitive and hands-on type media. Once you have determined the media relevant to your own training requirements, you can begin the next phase.

b. Determine the Instructional Characteristics. Defining the instructional characteristics, or "attributes" as they are also called is an important task. Figure 8 presents a sample list of attributes. Note how the attributes are clustered into groups of similar characteristics: (1) Display characteristics, (2) Response mode, (3) Evaluation mode, (4) Feedback, and (5) Special Requirements. Breaking the attributes into small categories like this simplifies the task of creating the media pool and helps make the table itself a bit more legible. At this point, observe Figure 9, which shows a sample completed media pool. Note how the media are listed down the left-hand column, and the attributes are listed across the top row, creating a media-by-attributes matrix. Creating such a table allows the next phase to proceed.

c. Cross-Reference Media and Their Attributes. For each medium listed, the analysts will then weight its ability to deliver each instructional characteristic. The weighting is made with a single number, between 0 and 5. A "0" weighting indicates that the medium has no capability for delivering an instructional attribute. A "5" indicates that the medium is very capable of handling a particular characteristic. Note in Figure 9 that the medium "audio-tape" is ranked "5" under the attribute "audio-voice," indicating the strong relationship between the two. "Workbook," of course, is ranked "0" under the audio-voice capability, since it has no ability for delivering this characteristic.

The user of the system has the option, of course, to use any media or any instructional characteristic relevant to the needs of the project at hand. Other instructional characteristics which might be used in the data base include availability of equipment, cost of equipment, task difficulty, stage-of-learning.

MEDIA LISTED ON THE FILE : pool

1.	CAI
2.	Random Acress Slides
3.	Motion Disture/ Videotape
4.	Slides Aug.o
5.	Audio/Tabe
5.	Slides
7.	Lecture
8.	Demonstration
9.	Group Discussion
10.	Workbiok
11.	Teaching Machine
1?.	OP. Equip. (OP. Environment
13.	OP. Equip./Lab
14.	Team Ina nar
15.	Procedural Trainer
15.	Part Task Trainer
17.	3-D Mock-up
19.	2-D Mork-20
19.	TICCIT + Videodise
20.	PLATO + Vii odise
?1.	GETS
22.	Bessele: Cla-Rae

Figure 7. A cample media listing.

ATTRIBUTES LISTED ON THE FILE : pool

1

* I. DISPLAY CHARACTERISTICS 1. Audio (voice) 2. Audio (ambient) 3. Tactile cues 4. Kinesthetic cues 5. Verbal/text 5. Pictorial 7. Drawings/diagrams 8. Motion 9. Color * II. RESPONSE MODE 10. Verbal/written Point-touch-mark
 Manipulate
 Multiple choice * III. EVALUATION 14. Instructor
15. Automated
16. Peer
17. Intrinsic * IV. FEEDBACK 19. Immediate response
 19. Immediate error
 20. Periodic
 21. Post session * SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS 22. Crew/team interaction 23. Environmental condition 24. Physical motion 25. Time variability

Figure 8. A sample listing of instructional characteristics.

	J	•																								i en	i ti un		
Attributes 🍗	aracteristic	voice)	ambicat L	к 	etit	11.11		s/Brawings					louche " u E.	late .	le Choice		- tor	г.н			te Resured	ate Lron	:	stian — .	Suchastin	ram Interact	mental tr d		
Media V	Hhisolav Ch	1. Audio (2. Audia L	la. Lacti le	4. Kinesth	5. Vei bal/	f. Firtori	7Diagram	3. Motion	1. Colter	t j ktorvist	10. Vertal	II. Perm.	12Man1pu	13. Multip	- E VVE HVE -	14. Instru	temotuk .24	16. Peer		18. Inmedia	12. Innedia	Po. Perjudi	1. Just 50	+SFILIAL P	22. CLEW/L	anival F	1.4. Phy. 1.	
	-					<u></u>		_ <u>-</u> ,	<u></u>	-	Ha			. .		-	-1-					\sim						•	
<u> 1. </u>		4	11	(Ę		4		:	÷.	<u> </u>	<u>:</u>	4	<u>د</u> '		2	5	<u>: :</u>		5	Ę	5	3	I.	3 1	:		:
2. Random-Access		; 	<u></u>			:	Ę	<u>.</u>			2			<u>.</u>	÷		<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	-	4	5	4	:		د ــــ			:
3. Methor Pic/VT		. 4	3			<u>.</u>	÷.				3			1	<u>.</u>		<u>-</u>	<u> </u>	<u>. -</u>	_	<u>(</u>	-	5	÷					:
4. Slides Audio		<u> </u>	3			<u>.</u>	4	÷	:	<u> </u>	÷.			. <u>.</u>		5 	÷	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		<u> </u>		<u> </u>		I.	2 :			•
5. Audro Tape		5	151		- • •							·.					÷		4				<u> </u>	<u>ئ</u>					:
e. Sindes		r				3	<u> </u>	Ë	<u>.</u>	Ę	<u>.</u>				3.,	-	<u> </u>	_	3 4 4	-	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	5	<u> </u>	Į.	<u>.</u>			<u>.</u>
/. Lecture		5		- Û	0	÷	<u>-</u>	4	?	<u> </u>		í. 			3			<u></u>	5 - 5	-	1 5	Ē		<u>.</u>			:		:
b. Demonstration		15	<u> </u>	4	÷	Ę	<u> </u>	-		<u>_</u>		_:		i.	<u>:</u>		4	.		4	5	5		Ĕ.,		ŝ.	<u>-</u>	. .	<u>.</u>
9. Group Discuss.	<u> </u>	5	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>			¥	: 	- 	<u>.</u>	<u> </u>		<u> </u>			-	1 5	5	Ę.	£ -		5	<u>.</u>		:
10. WORKDOCK		0	0			Ę			<u>£</u> .,		<u>R</u>	÷.	÷.,	<u>.</u>)	£	1.	نبة	2.4.(2 2		<u> </u>	3	3	21		: ا	â.	<u> </u>	
11. Teaching Machine						£		<u>-</u>	<u>.</u>	_:_	₹.		٤	٤	5			<u>.</u> 1	<u>, i 1</u>	-	<u>-</u> 5	5,	اع •	: ۲ 	Į.	÷	<u>.</u>		
12. OP.ECCIP/OP.ENV		15	5	2	5	3	3	4	Ę	<u>.</u>	5			÷	-		<u>: </u>	<u>c L</u>	41	4	<u> </u>	Ē	3	51		=	<u></u>	:	<u>.</u> ,
13. OP. EQUIP/LAB		5		5_	3	С	3	3	<u> </u>	Ę.	Ζ.		<u> </u>	r				04	: 11	4	1 3	31	2			:	2	<u>, '</u>	<u>.</u> ,
14. Team Trainer		5	14	5	3	0	<u>.</u>	3	4	:	2	. <u></u>		5	<u> </u>		<u>.</u>	<u>4</u>	11	i.	5	?	0			: !	<u>.</u> .	· '	
15. Proced. Trainer	<u> </u>	<u>.</u>		Ę	5			į.			È.			÷			: ' :	5 4		_¦∎	<u>;</u> C		<u>,</u>	3		<u> </u>		-	. '
16. Part Task Train.	i	3	13	3	з :	3	-	<u>.</u>	:	1	2		-	-	- 1		: :			_!	<u>_</u>		<u> </u>			:		<u></u>	
17. 3-D Mock Up		<u>i 0</u>	0	5	:	4	Ê	<u>د</u>	0	<u>د</u>	Ê.		-	<u>د</u> ا		÷	<u>.</u>	2.12	4		10	<u></u>	Ę			- !	<u> </u>		
18. 2-D Mock Up				3	1		Э.	2			X .	•		<u></u>										ا 	I.	-	:		
		-		_			\square	۱		- 	5			_!			÷.	_			+	1		<u>ا</u>		<u>+</u>		•	
* Potential CAL *	· `	1	-		٦	<u> </u>		~	· _ ·	•	ŗ.	·~~		1	1	÷.	ł	Ì	\mathbf{Y}			1	-1	i		Ì	•	- 1	
19. TICCIT & VDISC	1	4	5			5	4	3	ť	1			4								5	4	4]	4		-			:
20. PLATE & VOISE	ł	4	5			5	3		2	¢	E.		:		1		1				5		Ę.	Ê	I	: 1			
21. GET5	(4	5			5	3	13	2	Ş	Ě.		4 ¹	5	. 1						ŗ	Ę	ç			3	1	:	
:Also Possible:	۱ <u>۰</u>]	\sim	~	-	~	~		-							L	-	4-	1		-	_	1		ľ				• ,
22. Besseler Cue-See	;	3	4			4	4	4	î,	:	A		<u>.</u>	:	· !		. 12				4		5	•	F				
	[i																		Ĩ			i			
•		1	1								.			1	1							ĺ				i			
				_				· · ·											1				1	1				_,_	
												••••		1		1	1	1		1			i		i	i	-		 ,
		T													1	1	1	T	1	i	T		i		Ī		+-		
														1		!		i	i				i	ī		1	!	i	

Figure 9. A sample completed media pool with each medium's ability to deliver each characteristic rated on a 0-5 scale.

5,5,

or task frequency, to name a few. For instance, CAI, would probably be ranked "O" under the attribute "low cost," or "5" under the characteristic "availability" should one be available at the proposed training site. Similarly, actual equipment and simulators might rate high on the dimensions of "task difficulty" or "task frequency," so that the more difficult and frequent tasks are assured simulator training. The instructional attributes do not i ave to relate to effectiveness variable per se and this is why trade-offs involving cost, availability, reliability and other factors are possible.

Once the media pool has been created, it needs to be entered into the computer as a data base. The AIMS system provides programs to allow easy entering of these data. The User Guide details the procedures. Once that task is complete, the user needs to create selection worksheets for matching instructional characteristics to objectives. The system provides for automatic generation of such a worksheet. The worksheet, of course, is directly tailored to the media pool from which it was created. Figures 10 and 11 show selection worksheets from two different media selection problems which were produced by the computer. AIMS assists in the Information Analysis function of media selection by reducing the time to record and store the results of learning objectives analysis. It should be noted also that, while we speak of learning objectives, hardware functional analysis, mission analysis or any other information. This allows one to use the system regardless of the state of front-end analysis, as will be detailed later.

As in models discussed earlier in the report, the instructional designers/ developers need to use the worksheets to indicate the instructional characteristics required for effective and efficient delivery of instruction. Since this is a judgmental, "thinking" task, the worksheets are provided to allow designers to work "off-line," not consuming unnecessary computer time at this stage.

Once all of the instructional characteristics for a given group of objectives been determined, these data need to be entered into the computer. This is an easy task; complete instructions are provided in the User's Guide. Basically, the person inputting data, (a fast 10-key operator might be best), types in the objective number and the numbers of the instructional attributes checked off on the worksheet for that objective. The computer then goes to work in several ways:

- a. Determines media which have the required characteristics.
- b. Determines how well each medium handles required characteristics.
- c. Scores and rank orders media as to their appropriateness for the given objective.
- d. Records how many times each medium is selected.
- e. Stores objectives with selected media on data base of objectives.

The computer performs these tasks many hundreds of times faster than would be humanly possible.

SELECTION WORKSHEET FOR USE WITH THE F	TLE : pool
OBJECTIVE NUMBER :	
OB JECTIVE:	
Put a check in the boxes next to requi	red attributes.
<pre>* I. DISPLAY CHARACTERISTICS 1. Audio (voice) 2. Audio (ambient) 3. Tactile cues 4. Kinesthetic cues 4. Kinesthetic cues 5. Verbal/text 6. Pictorial 7. Drawings/diagrams 8. Motion 9. Color * II. RESPONSE MODE 10. Verbal/written 11. Point-touch-mark</pre>	<pre>* III. EVALUATION + _ 14. Instructor + _ 15. Automated _ 16. Peer + _ 17. Intrinsic * IV. FEEDBACK + _ 18. Immediate response + _ 19. Immediate error + _ 20. Periodic + _ 21. Post session * SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS + _ 22. Crew/team interaction </pre>

.....

Figure 10. A sample selection worksheet from a media pool entitled "Pool."

3.2

SELECTION WORKSHEET FOR USE WITH THE FILE	E : b:dass
OBJECTIVE NUMBER :	
OBJECTIVE:	
Put a check in the boxes next to required	d áttributes.
<pre>*I. VISUAL DISPLAYS</pre>	<pre>1 26. non-operating response *IV. MEASUREMENT 1 27. overtimes 1 28. console error events 1 29. non-console error events 1 30. non-operating error events 1 30. non-operating error events 1 31. GALT sequence 1 32. debrief replay 1 33. time and success summaries 1 34. display option 1 35. multiple sonobuoy monitorin *V. STRATEGIES 1 36. interaction: Senso 1 37. interaction: TACCO 1 38. interaction: pilot 1 39. interaction: other 1 40. overtime feedback 1 41. console error feedback 1 42. non-operating error feedback 1 43. non-operating error feedback 1 44. change LOFARgram difficulty 1 45. replay 1 45. skip event 1 47. freeze 1 48. time compression *VI. ADDITIONAL ATTRIBUTES 1 49. visual data display 1 50. aural data display</pre>

Figure 11. A sample worksheet from a media pool entitled "DASS."

Figure 12 shows a sample media selection made by the AIMS model. Note that the media are ranked according to "specific" rating. This is a rating of how well this medium handles the characteristics specific to the objective. The "general" rating is the average of the quality ratings assigned to all of the instructional characteristics for that medium. A comparison of these ratings indicates the degrae to which the capabilities of that medium can be exploited for a given objective. For example, the first choice in Figure 12, "Op.Equip/Op. Environment," shows that the medium's attributes matched up with attributes required by the objective for a highest "specific" rating of "5." The general rating (average of all ratings), however, for this medium, was 4.4c. In this case, the medium's attributes matched the requirements of this objective very well. The opposite was true of medium choice #6, "2D Mock-up." In this case, the average general rating for the medium was 3.36, but for this specific objective the rating was 1.33, showing that the attributes of the medium did not match well to those required by the objective.

GOALS OF AIMS

Like all other human activities requiring analytic thinking, media selection can be proceduralized and automated only to a limited extent. ISD personnel must always remember that the system is only as useful as their analytic abilities are able to exploit it. The following discussion of the five gculs of the AIMS system is provided to further explain the power of AIMS to assist ISD personnel. It is beyond the current scope to include step-by-step procedures for the examples below. They are intended only as hints and clarification to the AIMS user.

MAXIMIZE THE USE OF PERTINENT INFORMATION. Any given problem may be approached by gathering and using all relevant information or by simplifying the effort using a small subset of information. Media models in the literature reflect from one end of the continuum "information use" to the other. Either approach is possible with AIMS because the user defines how much information is relevant as part of the problem analysis. The user determines which and how many attributes should be derived from the analysis of objectives. The user determines what should be included in the media pool. The user decides whether an existing media selection model such as those reviewed earlier satisfies the problem criteria.

A major advantage of the AIMS system is that large amounts of information (attributes, media pool items) can be efficiently input into a computermanaged data base and utilized at a tremendous time savings over a manual effort. In fact, when a large amount of information is used manually it can be unwieldy, especially difficult for those without extensive media expertise, and time consuming. The AIMS system allows the user to define the specific media selection model required during the problem analysis and definition steps. Information analysis is then aided by allowing the user to input the coded analysis of objectives into the data base instead of having to sift through them one by one to perform matching and trade-offs. Likewise, because all information is now on the data base the right command matches the analysis results for each objective with each medium, summarizes each medium's rank across objectives, and prints out the results in tabular form. Trade-offs can easily be made by adding or changing attributes or media to reflect a modification of the problem statement (e.g., what if we eliminate this instruction that requires significant amounts of audio? or, if we change the

OBJECTIVE #2.2.3.4.2.0

	SPECIFIC	GENERAL
MEDIUM	/ RATING	N/11 1.40
Op. Equip./Op. Environment	5.00	4.48
Op. Equip./Lab	4.33	4.35
Procedural Trainer	4.33	د4.83
Part task trainer	3.67	4.19
3D Mock-up	3.67	4.36
2D Mock-up	1.33	0.36
	MEDIUM Op. Equip./Op. Environment Op. Equip./Lab Procedural Trainer Part task trainer 3D Mock-up 2D Mock-up	MEDIUMSPECIFIC RATINGOp. Equip./Op. Environment5.00Op. Equip./Lab4.33Procedural Trainer4.33Part task trainer3.673D Mock-up3.672D Mock-up1.33

Figure 12. A sample media selection made by the AIMS model for a single objective

instructional setting to a deployed site instead of a schoolhouse classroom, should we eliminate media which cannot be supported easily?)

Most of the labor in matching and trade-offs is computerized. It is performed at a fraction of the time required if ISD personnel were to do the same thing manually. Because of the efficiency added by AIMS, the user can design the media selection model to meet the problem with much less concern as to how much information to include and, thereby, maximize the information pertinent to media selection.

PROVIDE FLEXIBILITY TO MODIFY THE MODEL. One problem with many media models is that all media selection problems are treated equally. The models imply that the same attributes and media pool can be used for almost all problems. This is not true. For example, one situation may be concerned only with selecting from currently available media which can be supported by existing in-house resources; while another case, starting without any support resources or restrictions, may be open to all possible media.

AIMS provides flexibility by allowing the user to change the media pool and/or the media attributes. For example, the user may wish to add a particular medium to the list (emerging videodisc system) or add a capability assigned to a particular medium (touch panel to a computer assisted instruction system). These user functions suggest the need to update, change, and add to the media selection data base. The recurring problem with current media selection models is the broadness of the media selections and the rigidity of the media pools. The possibility of creating a universal media pool seems nil. Media pools are going to vary in terms of the media to be considered, the relevant instructional characteristics, the level of specificity, and changing technologies and media formats.

Without any special programming expertise, the AIMS user may add or change media and attributes, or create entirely new media pools, without compromising the selection process itself. The emphasis on flexibility in the AIMS system makes it widely applicable to a variety of training system development projects. It satisfies the requirements for growth potential and allows for fulfillment of the next three goals to be discussed.

CONSIDER STUDENT STAGE OF LEARNING. There is an overlap between this goal and the goal of allowing better selection capability for hands-on training devices. Generally, as the stage of learning becomes more advanced there are more requirements for hands-on training. By identifying the stage of learning first, selection may be directed toward the applicable hands-on training requirements. Procedures for using AIMS to consider student stage of learning are illustrated below with three examples. Section IV of this report also provides an example of a situation considering stage of learning which was implemented on AIMS. Specific attributes of hands-on training devices as they relate to media selection using AIMS are discussed under Goal 4.

To consider stage of learning in the media selection process, the concept is incorporated as an instructional characteristic which then enables the computer to select media on that characteristic. The User's Guide in

the Appendix provides the necessary step-by-step information for adding instructional characteristics to the media pool. However, the definition of student stages of learning is dependent upon the training system and instructional developers.

In one example, the stages of learning at a fleet readiness squadron could be defined as: (1) familiarization, (2) memory, and (3) actual use, with additional substages defined by the content of information to be remembered and used. Substages are thus often defined as facts, concepts, rules and procedures. This scheme, or a variation of it, has been used in several Navy aircrew curricula developments to classify learning objectives. After these attributes are included in the data base, each medium in the pool would be rated by how well it could provide for each stage of learning. For example, a simplified diagram of an operator's console might be usable for familiarization, a workbook and technical manual for acquisition of information, and a simulator trainer for using the information under various conditions.

The LAMPS MARK III model described in Section II provides another example of determining student stage of learning. In this model, the first step is to classify the objective as either "hands-on" or cognitive. In the second step, the level of learning for each hands-on objective is determined. As shown in Table 2 in the left column, there are five levels of learning for "hands-on" objectives.

The levels of learning are then used to prioritize the media selected. Table 3 represents a priority assignment table used for training devices. The letters across the top pertain to: (A) operational equipment-operational environment, (B) operational equipment-laboratory equipment, (C) team trainer, (D) procedural trainer, (E) part-task trainer, (F) three-dimensional mock-up, and (G) two-dimensional mock-up.¹⁷ The numbers indicate the rank (from 1-7 with 7 the lowest) of a device's capability to provide the training for a level of learning based on the "complexity/fidelity" required and procurement costs.

The TAEG model described in Section III provides yet another example of stage of learning analysis which could be implemented on AIMS. It illustrates different techniques for taking into account stages of learning than those used in the LAMPS MARK III model. The TAEG model makes the distinction between training stages and training tasks. Each stage consists of fundamentally similar tasks. Stages are ordered so that prerequisite skills are acquired before advanced skills are introduced. The training tasks are therefore organized into a preliminary curriculum outline which should consist of a series of stages. Table 4, taken from the TAEG report, illustrates the dual categorization by both stage and tasks within a stage. Note that tasks within a stage (center column) also consist of two or more primary task categories which indicate the type of learning required. The procedures for selecting the appropriate media include:

¹⁷See footnote 7 on page 11.

MEDIA SELECTION MODEL											
Classification	Typical Verbs	General Description									
Familiarity	Identify, Select, Locate, Touch, List	The trainee learns general context knowledge of the job and mission to be implemented and will learn to identify, locate, perceive the inter- related personnel, equipment, and material with which he will interact.									
Perform Procedure	Configure, Remove, Assemble, Assign, Retrieve, Prepare, Inspect, Open, Close	The trainee learns the sequences, movements, and mental processes to be fol- lowed in order to perform elements of his job. These procedures are generally learned to an unaided but elementary skill level.									
Perform Job	Classify, Track, Launch, Fly, Land, Repair, Fix, Transmit, Decide, Align, Operate, Control	The trainee learns to per- form all procedures, pro- cesses, and decisions required in a job at a skill level required oper- ationally. This type of of learning involves varied job experiences and related concurrent activities.									
Perform Mission	Comply, Order, Acknowledge, Confirm, Request, Report, Relieve, Share, and Combined Action Verbs	The trainee learns to per- form the job in coordination and communication with, dynamic interaction with, other functional personnel (real or simulated). This type of learning requires highly proficient job skills for effective training.									
Perform Under Unusual/Degraded Conditions	Verbs are similar to Perform, Job, Mission. Condi- tions must be evaluated.	The trainee learns to cope with the unexpected and unusual events that may occur in operation such as equipment malfunction, incorrect information, short handed, extraordinary environments. This type of learning also has as a pre- requisite highly proficient job skills.									

TABLE 2. "HANDS-ON" LEARNING LEVELS USED IN LAMPS MARK III MEDIA SELECTION MODEL

•	Α	В	С	D	Ε	F	G
Familiarity	7	3	6	5	4	2	1
Procedural Performance	7	5	6	4	3	2	1
Job Performance	4	5	3	1	2	6	7
Mission Performance	2	5	1	3	4	6	7
Unusual Event	2	7	1	3	4	5	6

TABLE 3. PRIORITY ASSIGNMENT "HANDS-ON" MEDIA POOL IN LAMPS MARK III MEDIA SELECTION MODEL.

-

.

-

and the second s

.

. . . .

TABLE 4. CATEGORIZATION OF TASKS IN THE FAMILIARIZATION STAGE IN THE TA-4J ADVANCED JET NAVY UNDERGRADUATE PILOT TRAINING PROGRAM.

Stage	Tasks Within Stage	Primary Task Categories
Familiarization	Cockpit Procedures	Recalling Procedures Non-Verbal Identification Positioning & Serial Movement
	Preflight Inspection	Recalling Procedures Non-Verbal Identification Making Decisions
	Normal Operating Procedures	Recalling Procedures Non-Verbal Identification Continuous Movement Positioning and Serial Movement
	Nosewheel Steering and Taxi Procedures	Recalling Procedures Non-Verbal Identification Continuous Movement Oral Verbalization
	Take-Off/Climb/Level Off	Recalling Procedures Non-Verbal Identification Continuous Movement Positioning and Serial Movement Oral Verbalization
	Aerobatics	Recalling Procedures Non-Verbal Identification Continuous Movement
	Landing	Recalling Procedures Non-Verbal Identification Continuous Movement Positioning and Serial Movement Oral Verbalization

a. Identifying the stage and task type

b. Determining the guidelines and media implications for the different learning task categories, and

c. Matching the implications to options in the media pool.

Details of each step may be found in the TAEG staff study report. 18

ALLOW MORE DETAILED SELECTION OF TRAINING DEVICES. Since each user can create his own media pool, extensive listings of simulators, actual equipment, and other hands-on type media and their attributes are fully permissible. Fidelity requirements can be included as instructional characteristics, thereby directly bearing on the media selected. The bias toward cognitive type media which is apparent in existing models can be eliminated.

Media selection models do not usually provide procedures for determining specific simulator requirements and matching objectives to simulators to be used for training. If selection criteria are identified, they are not usually comprehensive. The AIMS approach provides a tool for systematic selection of simulators as well as other media. The use of stage of learning attributes and the definition of specific attributes required for displays, responses and other learning task elements are important in selecting simulators.

The key to determining when and how simulators should be designed and used in training is in the concept of level of fidelity. Gagne's definition is:

"A simulator is generally understood to be a kind of training device which has a high degree of resemblance to operational equipment, particularly with respect to the display, the controls, and the way one affects the other when in operation."¹⁹

According to Gagne, training simulators have three characteristics in common, each of which is related to fidelity and must be taken into account in media selection. The characteristics are:

a. A representation of the real situation in which operations are carried out

b. A way to provide desired controls over the represented situation

¹⁸See footnote 4 on page 10.

¹⁹R. Gagne, <u>Training Devices and Simulators</u>: <u>Some Research Issues</u> AFPTRC-TR-54-16. (Lackland AFB, TX: Air Force Personnel and Training Research Center, Air Research and Development Command, May 1954).

c. The omission, by design, of certain parts of the real situation.²⁰

The key question in decisions of when and how to use a simulator in training is how much representation to provide. Costs, availability of real equipment, and other practical factors enter into final media mix decisions, but these are factors to be considered at a later stage rather than during the analysis of training requirements. As pointed out in previous work for the NAVTRAEQUIPCEN,²¹ there are some guidelines for developing and using simulators, but they have not been formally proceduralized within the ISD process.

The concept of the AIMS system is to allow the user to incorporate specific information on skills training and simulation which requires higher fidelity than that available with general media. Ultimately, the user must decide how much information to incorporate to satisfy the training situation. Figure 13 provides a methods/media framework suggested as a model for the AIMS user. This framework uses many of the same general ideas as the LAMPS MARK III model described earlier. However, the AIMS system should provide improvements by allowing for more detailed selection of training devices in each unique training program.

The following paragraphs provide a brief explanation of the five steps shown in Figure 13. Where appropriate, statements concerning training simulator literature are made to assist the AIMS user in the problem analysis and definition functions. Section IV illustrates how specific fidelity requirements were handled for a demonstration project using AIMS.

<u>Step 1 - Analysis of Objectives</u>. Tilden²² pointed out that the degree of fidelity required for simulators is a consequence of the training objectives and what is known about how to train the objectives (referred to as learning theory). In this case, learning theory means what is known about information presentation, perception, feedback, motivation, transfer of learning, and other methods/media issues. However, the major question to be answered is how to relate fidelity requirements to a training objective.

The first step in the LAMPS MARK III model is the analysis of objectives for a "hands-on" requirement. The hands-on decision is made by determining if a representation or a real display or response feature is required. The model proposed here carries this notion further in order to utilize more of the relevant information which can be derived from analyzing objectives. The user should analyze the three components of each objective (behavior, standard, conditions) since each of these components provides relevant fidently information. Conditions tell us something about display requirements. For

²⁰See footnote 19 on page 46.

²¹W. W. Prophet, U.S. Navy Fleet Aviation Training Development, NAVTRAEQUIPCEN Technical Report 77-C-0009-1. (Pensacola, FL: Seville Research Corporation, March 1978).

²²C. H. Tilden, <u>Problems in Training Equipment Design</u>, (North American Aviation, Inc., Space and Information Systems Division, 1962).



Figure 13. Summary of proposed methods/media selection.

• • • • •

example, if a LOFARGRAM with visual cues for primary harmonic family is indicated in an objective, then the display fidelity must be high regardless of the presentation medium. Standards provide information related to response and recording (performance measurement) requirements. The behavior tells us something about interactiveness and general response mode.

<u>Step 2 - Fidelity Level</u>. By identifying the fidelity requirements for the objectives, the user can then determine whether training devices or simulators are required. In some cases, it will be possible for both training devices and classroom media to perform for a given objective. Step 2 requires only that a decision is made that higher fidelity is required than available with conventional media. The detailed requirements will be used later in Steps 3 and 4.

<u>Step 3 - Classification</u>. In a typical classroom media selection model, the classification of objectives by learning type is part of the ISD procedures. This step also exists in the AIMS model. It is suggested that classification by stage of learning also be done where the learning objectives indicate a higher fidelity device may be required.

A variety of classification schemes has been used by practitioners. The categories used in the LAMPS MARK III and TAEG/TECEP procedures were described earlier in this report. The categories may be as simple as "early," "middle," and "high" stages. The categories may be defined by agreement that a specific task belongs to a category. Definitions of categories which are totally clear may be difficult to achieve.

<u>Step 4 - Determine Strategies/Events</u>. Stages of learning are relevant to selections involving trainers and real equipment because they aid in determining the need for three aspects of fidelity discussed by Kinkade and Wheaton. These are: (1) equipment fidelity, (2) environment fidelity, and (3) psycholocical fidelity. These three aspects of fidelity relate to the design of the trainer and control of the representations. By incorporating the relevant fidelity factors for a training situation into the media pool and attributes data base definition, the user can provide for more detailed selection of training devices and simulators.

Research done on how fidelity factors relate to stages of learning indicate:

a. At later stages of learning, specific factors are required peculiar to the stage.²⁴

²³R. G. Kinkade and G. R. Wheaton, "Training Device Design," in Humar Engineering Guide to Equipment Design, ed. H. P. VanCott and R. G. Kinkade (Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research, 1972).

²⁴E. A. Fleishman, "The Description and Prediction of Perceptual-Motor Skill Training," in <u>Training Research and Education</u>, ed. R. Glaser (Washington, DC: Office of Naval Research, 1961).

b. As the skill level proficiency is expected to increase, the fidelity of the learning environment should increase. 25

c. In early stages of learning, (such as learning nomenclature) a high fidelity learning environment is inefficient²⁶ and may actually confuse the trainee.²⁷ An exception to this might be the learning of complicated motor skills where the training device is designed to accommodate varying levels of proficiency.²⁸

d. As the student enters a "middle" stage-of-learning (more task integration and higher expected proficiency) fidelity increases for such factors ²⁹ as:

- (1) Noise which must be learned as irrelevant
- (2) Guiding cues for action
- (3) Discrimination cues
- (4) Time relationships
- (5) Task and event loads

e. In high (final) stages of learning, fidelity should be increased still more for each of the factors under "d" above.³⁰ Practice should simulate with accuracy the operational environment where such factors are the basis for task performance.

<u>Step 5 - Selection</u>. The final step is to list and prioritize the trainer and conventional media options which meet the training objectives requirements.

²⁵R. G. Kinkade and G. R. Wheaton, "Training Device Design," in <u>Human</u> <u>Engineering Guide to Equipment Design</u>, ed. H. P. VanCott and R. G. Kinkade (Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research, 1972).

²⁶R. B. Miller, <u>Psychological Considerations in the Design of Training</u> Equipment, WADC-TR-54-563 (AD-71 202), (Wright Air Development Center, Wright-Patterson AFB, OH, December, 1954).

²⁷G. G. Miller, <u>Some Considerations in the Design and Utilization of</u> <u>Simulators for Technical Training</u>, AFHRL-TR-74-65 (Lowery Air Force Base, Colorado, Human Resource Laboratory, August, 1974).

²⁰R. Gagne, <u>Training Devices and Simulators:</u> Some Research Issues, A:PTRC-RT-54-16. Lackland AFB, TX: Air Force Personnel and Training Research Center, Air Research and Development Command, May 1954.

²⁹E. A. Fleishman, "The Description and Prediction of Perceptual-Motor Skill Training," in <u>Training Research and Education</u>, ed. R. Glaser (Washington, DC: Office of Naval Research, 1961).

30 Ibid.

ALLOW FOR VARIATIONS IN THE STAGE OF FRONT-END ANALYSIS. The conventional thinking behind media selection models is that they are used by a combination of instructional designers and media specialists during instructional development. Usually included in the "use" scenario is the assignment that a job/ task analysis has been performed with objectives defined and arranged in a fashion indicating instructional Lequence.

The problem arises during the conceptual stage of new weapon system programs when this information is not available and only gradually becomes available as the front-end analysis for training is performed. Yet programanagers must make decisions, prior to a full front-end analysis, for training plans which include billet, budgetary, and support resource requirements. At least tentative decisions must be made early in a program on media (including training devices) utilization. In many cases, this has been an almost happened task which is resolved in an armonair mode with best guesses and little supporting rationale due to the lack of information.

As seen in Figure 14. there are two types of information: (1) task statements and (2) behavioral objectives. Each of these two information types has three possible levels of quality: (1) completely analyzed for all tasks or objectives (full), (2) analyzed only for what are identified as new or unicle system functions (system specific), and (3) general (generic) task statements which could apply across various aircraft as derived from CASDAT (or some strucsource if it exists for a non-aircraft system). In the best situation, if full task analysis and full behavioral analysis would be available on which to base the media selection. As one or both of the information types becomes lower in quality, from completely analyzed to system specific only to generic, a grosser determination of media requirements is made. Figure 14 illustrates to level of media selection available. 31

It is possible to make a media selection, regardless of the information quality, using AIMS. During the problem analysis, the AIMS user should be termine what level of information is available. The AIMS system does not not the difference, but the user should. If the level of information to be and for media/attribute requirements is at the mission phase, equipment function some other gross level, then the definition of the attributes and media doe data base may not have to be extremely detailed. How detailed the data base should be is subject to the preference of the user, based on the problem. Typically, in the early stages of weapon system development, only estimates are needed and media selection will be finalized later based on a full fronteend analysis. However, if the early selection is likely to determine the doel media, then the user should be as detailed as possible in defining the attributes and media pool data base.

³¹J. Funaro, "Front-End Analysis (FEA) for Emerging Weapon Systems," paper presented at the DOJ/DARPA Conference, Santa Fe, NM, September 1979.





SECTION IV

DEMONSTRATION OF THE MODEL

As part of an ongoing project, Instructional Science and Development, Inc. was tasked to select media for an acoustic sensor operator deployed training system (DTS). The project represented a unique media selection problem. The training required high fidelity displays so a trainer capability or real equipment was required. However, no trainer already existed which could satisfy the requirements. The problem illustrates how Goal 3, consideration of stage of learning, and Goal 4, more detailed selection of hands-on training devices, can be handled with AIMS. The purpose of this section is to provide an example of how the AIMS system was used and the general outcomes of this application. The description is organized by the five major functions of media selection defined earlier.

PROBLEM ANALYSIS

A review of media selection models, such as the Interservice Procedures Model for Instructional System Development, did not result in finding an existing model which was deemed suitable. An approach to media selection which was highly specific to the acoustic sensor operator training problem statement was desired. Most media selection algorithms are more concerned with academic or learning center type media. In addition, the instructional characteristics which are used to describe the media are general in nature. Typically, they include the type of visual (still or motion; color or black and white; pictures or drawings), audio (voice or sound), and other general type characteristics. Furthermore, most media selection models do not specifically take into account stages of learning and advanced proficiency measurement. Therefore, it was determined that a procedure which provided for specific fidelity of display and response decisions, as well as the other detailed requirements of a deployed training system, was required.

DEFINITION

Table 5 lists the instructional characteristics which were determined to be relevant to DTS media selection. The characteristics are specific to the job of acoustic sensor operator and the training that job requires. Note that the instructional characteristics are categorized by display, response, measurement, and instructional strategy requirements.

The display requirements were taken, in part, from the current procedures for measuring proficiency of acoustic sensor operators. The proficiency measures cite the complexity and clarity of displays during analysis. Eight proficiency levels for analyzing acoustic data from visual and aural data were used to define the visual and aural display characteristics. The eight items listed under each of the categories Visual Displays and Aural Displays are abbreviated names for the proficiency levels. The proficiency levels and associated display requirements are a function of the type of target, its clarity, and number of signatures being analyzed. Although the eight proficiency levels are not exactly hierarchical they are still a stage of learning indicator and reflect a categorization recognized by operators.

TABLE 5. INSTRUCTIONAL CHARACTERISTICS FOR DTS MEDIA SELECTION

- MEASUREMENT VISUAL DISPLAYS 1. single/clear classic 28. 2. single/clear incomplete 3. multiple/clear classic 4. multiple/clear incomplete 5. single/clear confusing lines 6. single/peculiarities 7. multiple/clear confusing lines 8. multiple/peculiarities AURAL DISPLAYS STRATEGIES 9. single/clear classic 10. single/clear incomplete multiple/clear classic
 multiple/clear incomplete 13. single/clear confusing 14. single/peculiarities 15. multiple/clear confusing 16. multiple/peculiarities RESPONSE 17. communication Senso 18. communication: Tacco 19. communication: pilot 20. communication: other 21. tactical procedures ADDITIONAL ATTRIBUTES 22. analysis: non-console 23. analysis: console 24. display option
 - 25. mult. sonobuoy monitoring
 - 26. non-operating response

- 27. overtimes
 - console error events
 - 29. non-console error events
 - 30. non-operating error events
 - 31. GALT sequence
 - 32. debrief replay
 - 33. time and success summaries
 - 34. display option
 - 35. mult. sonobuoy monitoring

- 36. interaction: Senso
- 37. interaction: Tacco
- 38. interaction: pilot
- 39. interaction: other
- 40. overtime feedback
- 41. console error feedback
- 42. non-console error feedback
- 43. non-operating error feedback
- 44. change LDI
- 45. replay
- 46. skip event
- 47. freeze
- 48. time compression
- 49. visual data display
- 50. aural data display

The response requirements included actions taken at a console, as well as actions which would normally be part of the operator's job but not related to the console procedures. For example, instructional characteristics were included which relate to the interaction between acoustic sensor operator and other crew members, since concern was expressed about the need for subteam or team type interaction.

These types of responses are also reflected in the instructional characteristics categorized under measurement. It was considered important to be able to measure the sequence of actions, the timeliness of the actions, and the success of the actions taken. The instructional characteristics in the measurement category relate directly to the display and response characteristics.

Finally, the instructional characteristics related to training strategies are listed. Included are diagnostics on overtimes (beyond acceptable standards in objectives) and errors of several possible types as well as feedback capability for these errors. The capability is included for instructor actions during real time playing of the scenario. Freezing the exercise when a trainee has accomplished the objective and there is no sense in continuing to run the exercise, and replaying some portion of the exercise to reinforce or provide for practice are seen, in Table 5, as examples of instructor actions which could be required.

The media pool for training of acoustic sensor operators at an advanced level of proficiency need to reflect the entry level into the training and the constraints of the training environment. The entry level of the students is fairly high. The acoustic sensor operator, at a deployed setting, has been performing his job for some period of time in the actual environment. The training media must have a fairly high level of fidelity because the operator's job is dependent upon the console display of lines representing ocean acoustics. It was determined earlier that the analysis phase of the acoustic sensor's job was the most critical for training. Therefore, it became important for the incoming information, both visual and aural, to be of sufficient fidelity during training to transfer to the analysis phase of the job. In addition, it did not seem necessary to have a media pool with such commonplace learning center media as audio tapes, slide/sound, filmstrip, or other audiovisual devices. It was more suitable that the deployed training system have support media more in tune with storage and operation limitations. Some of the deployed settings are on board ships which have little or no extra room. Therefore, support media such as printed material, both for students and instructors, were considered more appropriate. The instructors themselves were also included as part-of the support media since they play an important part in the actual instructional events as well as the evaluation and management of training.

A meeting was held with personnel from the Navy Personnel Research and Development Center (NAVPERSRANDCEN), the Naval Air Development Center (NAVAIRDEVCEN), and the contractor to define possible alternatives for delivering the instruction. Six alternatives, based on three different hardware/software technologies, were defined with varying capabilities for satisfying the training requirements. The technologies included the use of

onboard tape systems, the use of specially built station mock-ups or table top devices with tape input, and the use of acoustic modules for generating signals into the aircraft. The six alternatives are summarized below:

a. Onboard tape system without benefit of instructional materials.

b. Onboard tape system with instructional materials. Use of multichannel capability to design new tapes from master set.

c. Tape system (compatible with aircraft) with mock-up of operator station and instructor console for real time exercising control.

d. Tape system (compatible with aircraft) with table top trainer having lower procedural fidelity.

e. Acoustic module system with full dynamic, real time control of scenarios.

f. Acoustic module system functionally equivalent to "b" above.

Next, ISD personnel and subject matter experts who knew the capabilities of the onboard tape system and the operator task requirements determined which characteristics required for training were available on the six alternatives and how well each alternative performed on that characteristic. Each configuration was given a score of 0 to 5 for its capability to provide each instructional characteristic. The matrix in Figure 15 summarizes the weights for each instructional characteristic for each media alternative.

INFORMATION ANALYSIS

A selection worksheet was generated by the computer for matching each objective to instructional characteristics. The analysis of objectives was performed by ISD personnel with subject matter expert assistance. Analysts were asked to ensure that the instructional characteristics listing was complete in that: (1) if a characteristic was not on the list and seemed appropriate, it would be added, or (2) if characteristics as they stood did not adequately distinguish the requirement, such a characteristic would be redefined. A few changes did occur. For example, visual and aural data displays were added to the list, while some characteristics were considered to be redundant and eliminated during the course of analysis. Such activities demonstrate the flexibility of AIMS and its capability to maximize the information utilized.

MATCHING AND TRADE-OFFS

Each objective was analyzed within four mission phases: Search, Analysis, Classification, and Localization. Table 6 summarizes the rankings of the six alternatives for each of the four mission phases. Several insights into the media selection process were gleaned from these data. During earlier phases of the project there was a growing concern over whether or not an expensive

UTES																									UTES
RIB	Alternatives													·		A	lte	rna	tiv	es				1	RIB
111			2		3		4		5		6		1		2		3		4		5			5	
•	H*	IS*	н	IS	Н	IS	н	IS	н	IS	н	IS	н	IS	н	IS	Н	IS	н	IS	н	IS	Н	IS	
1	5		5		5		5		5	1	5			2		5		5		5		5		5	26
2	5		5		5	•	5		5		5			1		3	5		5		5		3	\Box	27
3	5		5		5		5		5		5			1		3	5		3		5		3		-28-
4	5		5		5		5		5		5			1		3		3		3	-	3	1	2	29
5	5		5		5		5		5		5			1		3	4		5		4		1	31	30
6	5		5		5		5		5	1	5			1		3		4	4			4		3	31
7	5		5		5		5		5		5		4		4		5		3		5		:4		32
8	5		5		5		5		5	{ 1	5			1		3		5		4		5	ł	2	33
9	5		5		5		5		5		5			1		3	5		4		5	<u> </u>	3	<u> </u>	-3-
10	5		5		5		5		5		5			1		3	5		4		5		3	, 1	35
11	5		5		5		5		5	1	5			2		4	5		5		5			4	3€
12	5		5		5		5		5	•	Ś			2		4	5		5		5		1	4	37
13	5		5		б		5		5		5			2		4	5		5		5		-	4	33
14	5		5		5	{ 	5		5	Í	15	-		a		4	5		5		5		}	4	39
15	5		5		5		5		5	t	5	-		1	Ĺ	3	5		5	Ĺ	5			3	40
16	5		5		5		5	 	5	• +	5			1		3	5		3	 	5		3	++	41
17		2		5		5		5		5		5		1		3		3		3		3_	·	3	42
18		2		5		5	 +	5		5	; ; ;	5		1		3	4		5		4		, 1 +	3	43
19		2	ļ	5	1	5		5	1	5	۱ 	5	L	<u> </u>	3	ļ	4		3		5		3		44
20		2		5		5		5	İ	15	İ	5	5		5		5		5	Í	5		5		45
21	5		5		5		3]	5	f •	5		5	 	5	! 	5	<u> </u>	5	{ ┿────	5		5	r	
22	5		5		5	t	3	; , ,	<u>`</u>		5		5	1	5	İ	5	{ 	5	<u>.</u>	5		5	·	47
23	5		5	ł	5	l	3	¦ ∔	5	 	5		۵		6		0		5		0		0	i •	48
24	5		5		5		3		5	_	5		5		5		5		5	1	5	1	5	•	4 <u>9</u>
25	5		5		5		3		5		5	•	5	ł	5		5	+	5		6		5	•• •• ·	50

* Hardware

i

** Instructional System

Figure 15. Matrix of instructional attributes/media alternatives weightings for DTS media selection.

acoustic sound generating module("e" in the list above and Alternative 5 in Table 6)would be required for deployed training. This module, as well as the less-expensive, on-board magnetic tape system("b" in the list above and Alternative 2 in Table 6)was included in the media pool. Other questions related to the need for full dynamic control capability and computer-controlled diagnosis, prescription, feedback, and evaluation were also raised. Therefore, several alternatives providing these capabilities were included in the media pool.

Table 6. SUMMARY OF DTS MEDIA SELECTION RANKINGS

Selection Ranking	Search	Analysis	Classification	Localization				
FIRST	Alternative 5	Alternative 4	Alternative 5	Alternative 5				
SECOND	Alternative 3	Alternative 5	Alternative 3	Alternative 3				
THIRD	Alternative 4	Alternative 3	Alternative 2	Alternative 2				
FOURTH	Alternative 2	Alternative 6	Alternative 6	Alternative 6				
FIFTH	Alternative 6	Alternative 2	Alternative 4	Alternative 4				
SIXTH	Alternative 1	Alternative 1	Alternative 1	Alternative 1				

Ranking of Six Alternatives by Mission Phase

After the definition of the media pool, it was decided by the sponsoring activity that a field tryout of the tape-based system was needed to determine its effectiveness. The conclusions drawn from the media selection rankings summarized in Table 6 confirm this decision. Although the tape system, with instructional material support did not rank consistently as high across the objectives as the acoustic module, it did satisfy the training requirements, as judged by the media selection personnel, and would be much less expensive. The final determination of the tape system effectiveness, however, should be based on an evaluation in the real training environment since little is known of reliability and other important factors.

SECTION V

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The design of an automated aid to media selection was based on a common logic found in each of the existing media selection models reviewed and an analysis of functions which are performed by media selection analysts. That common logic is the matching of instructional attributes required by the training to attributes possessed by the available media. The AIMS programs were designed to provide an efficient, flexible computer-based system for media selection. The user has total flexibility in defining a model to address a particular problem.

CONCLUSIONS

Computer-based automated aids for instructional system development snould provide the user two advantages: (1) reduce the labor intensive efforts, and (2) allow a more effective development effort to be accomplished. At the beginning of the project, five goals were defined for AIMS which relate to these advantages. They are:

a. Maximize the use of information pertinent to media selection.

b. Provide flexibility in modifying the model to reflect specific problems and changing technology of media or media guidelines.

c. Provide for consideration of student stage of learning.

d. Allow greater, more detailed selection of training devices, such as simulators or other hands-on devices.

e. Allow for variations in the stage of front-end analysis.

These goals were achieved, in part, by designing AIMS to allow the user to define the instructional attributes required of the media and determine the pool of media to be considered. Table 7 summarizes the benefits of AIMS associated with each of the five goals. The AIMS system assists the media selection team in defining a particular model to meet specific needs or in using an existing model.

In addition, as described in Section IV, a large gain is made functionally toward solving the problems associated with media selection in highly unique training situations where it is necessary to determine clearly the required characteristics of a nonexistent training device, and to determine whether an investment in such equipment is justifiable. Such problems are not usually approachable with a generalized, cognitive-learning-based media selection model.

The approach toward these goals through a computerized aid to media selection resulted in what appears to be a significant reduction in the labor intensive aspects of this component of ISD. Experience with the AIMS system

Table 7. BENEFITS OF AIMS

GOAL

4.

5. Allow Variations in Stage

of Front-End Analysis

LABOR AND/OR DEVELOPMENT BENEFIT

- 1. Maximize Information Used User may define problem as complex as desired because the automation will considerably reduce the labor time needed for matching and making tradeoffs.
- Provide Flexibility in Defining Model to Reflect Specific Problems
 The user may define a totally new data base of attributes and media which, in effect, becomes a problem-specific media selection model. Changes to the attributes or media pool are easily made.
- 3. Consider Stage of Learning
 Whatever the user decides is an appropriate categorization of stage of learning can be defined in AIMS as an instructional attribute. Media are then scored and ranked on stage of learning capabilities as well as other specific attributes the user wishes to consider.
 - Better Selection of Hands-On Training Devices The user explicitly defines the stage of learning, fidelity and task characteristic variables which differentiate types and amounts of hands-on training needed.

The user may define the media pool and attributes in as detailed a level as is appropriate to the information available, from gross to fine. The judgments on which instructional attributes are required may be done with a mission analysis, hardware functional description, task analysis, or learning objectives. AIMS will save time in defining the pools and attributes, and performing trade-off analyses.

has shown that automating even a small media pool (e.g., 20 media by 20 attributes) speeds up the selection process considerably. In a simple test, media selections from the media pool were performed manually for 12 objectives. The overall time for manually matching the attributes for 12 objectives to appropriate media was 41.5 minutes, or 3.45 minutes per objective. The same 12 objectives assessed using the AIMS system required only 9.40 minutes, or 0.78 minutes per objective. If these figures are projected to reflect a major training system with 1000 objectives, the time savings gain is over a man-week. Furthermore, if AIMS were used to vary attributes or media pool items to make trade-offs and run several times, the savings could extend into several man-weeks or even months. It is not uncommon for Navy training systems to have several thousand objectives and the implications for time savings and training quality benefits are clear.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The power of AIMS to allow the user to develop specific media selection models to reflect specific problems, suggested several possible efforts for additional use of AIMS. First, AIMS could be used to build an evaluation tool for new delivery systems. For example, a general set of attributes which reflects a broad set of Navy training objectives could be identified to match against a standard media pool. As a new delivery system is introduced for consideration, its ability to perform on the training attributes could be added to the data base. The new media could then be compared against others on the data base.

A related use of AIMS could be in evaluating media of a particular kind. For example, media pools consisting of only videodisc systems, or all CAI systems, or all slide/sound systems could be developed and rankings determined based on selected learning objective clusters of interest. A logical extension of this concept would be to build a media pool consisting of design alternatives for a particular training capability which needs to be developed. This is an application frequently needed in which AIMS can be a valuable tool.

The above uses of AIMS for delivery system evaluation could provide a tool which does not exist now. The AIMS system would not provide final data for answers to evaluation questions, but it would provide a systematic approach to the process and give support for decisions made. It is recommended that these types of AIMS applications be explored by further study.

A second application area centers on the cost analysis of media. In the current study, the analysis of media training effectiveness was central and that is what AIMS is intended to help with. However, no media selection can be complete without cost analysis. The current TECEP costing technique already provides a cost model which will work for most Navy efforts. It is recommended that the TECEP cost model, or another if appropriate, be interfaced to AIMS so that all decision parameters can be guided by the analyst with computer assistance. Cost data for acquisition and operation of media should be included to provide comparisons for selecting media, but not for providing budget estimates. Budget estimates are appropriate for only a small set of alternatives where a full economic analysis should be performed.

NAVIPALOUIPCEN 79-C-0104-1

REFERENCES

- Control A., and Braby, P. Learning Guidelines and Algorithms for Theory Training Oppertives, TAEG Report No. 23, Onlando, Fill Naval Training Fluppedr Certer, Training Analysis and Evaluation Group, Merch 1976.
- Chill, R., An Evaluation of Ten Techniques for Chonsing Listnuch (rai Medie) [ASG Report No. 8. Orlando, Fill Naval Training Equinert Center. Training Analysis and Evaluation Group, December 1976.
- characterize R., Henny, J. M., Pannish, W. F., and Swode, W. M. Alterizing the supnetric for Characterize Instructional Balancerize and TAPE Report Netric Priance, FL: Navy Training Equipment Center, Training Analysis and evaluation Group, April 1975.
- Charge R., Micheli, G. S., Monnis, C. L., and Oknaski, H. D. Staff Study of Cast and Training Effectiveness of Proposed Training Systems. TAEG Period No. 1. Onlando, FE: Naval Training Equipment Certer, Training Acalysis and Evaluation Group, 1972.
- -- Inman, E. A. "The Description and Prediction of Perceptual-Matur Scool Fraining." Training Research and Education. Edited by R. Glaser. Washington, DC: Office of Naval Research, 1961.
- unarc, J. "Front-End Analysis (FEA) for Emergin: Weapon Systems." Lapen unesensed at the DoD/DARPA Conference, Santa Fe, NM, Sensember 1974.
- Ligne, R. Truining Devices and Simulators: Some Research Issuer, APPTRC-PT-F4-16. Lackland AFB, TX: Air Force Personnel and Training Research Centers. Air Research and Sevelopment Command, May 1954.
- Hures, J., O'Neal, F., Reansley, G., O'Neal, H., Fee, M., Rodi, L., and Hormarns, J., Functional Specifications for Computer Aided Training of Development and Management (CATSDM) Support Functions, AVTRAEQUIPES, 77-C-0016-1. San Diego, CA: Courseware, Inc., July 1978.
- Finkele, P. G. and Wheaton, G. R. "Training Device Design." In Human Engineering Guide to Equipment Design. Edited by H. P. VarGott and P. G. Kinkade. Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research, 1970.
- MARK III Methods/Media Swiection Model. Manassas, VA: IBM Fether: System: Prvision, 1914.
- Mur. J. M. C., Blaiwes, A. S. and Bind, P. G. Computer Aided System ton Developing Aircrew Teatring (LASDAT): An Automated And for Developing Aircrew Training, NAVTRAEDUIPCEN Technical Report 79-0-0076-1. An instant val. Veda, Incl. March 1983.

REFERENCES (Cont.)

- Miller, G. G. Some Considerations in the Design and Utilization of Simulators for Technical Training, AFHRL-TR-74-65. Air Force Human Resources Laboratory, Lowry Air Force Base, Colorado, August 1974.
- Miller, R. G. <u>Psychological Considerations in the Design of Training Equipment</u>, WADC-TR-54-563, AD-71 202, Wright Air Development Center, Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio, June 1953.
- Mirabella, A. and Wheaton, G. R. <u>Effects of Task Index Variations on Transfer</u> of Training Criteria, NAVTRAEQUIPCEN Technical Report 71-C-0126-1. Orlando, FL: Naval Training Equipment Center, January 1974.
- Prophet, W. W. U.S. Navy Fleet Aviation Training Development, NAVTRAEQUIPCEN Technical Report 77-C-0009-1. Pensacola, FL: Seville Research Corporation, March 1978.
- Tilden, C. H. <u>Problems in Training Equipment Design</u>. Space and Information Systems Division, North American Aviation, Inc., 1962.

r

.

APPENDIX

USER'S GUIDE

65

(95.A. - -

FRECEDING PAGE BLANK-NOT FILLED

ا مدر ا ا مرابع ۱۰ - بریو مدیوه دارس •••

.,

APPENDIX USER'S GUIDE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section		Page
1.	INTRODUCTION	69
II.	USING THE AIMS SYSTEM STEP 1: GETTING THE SYSTEM RUNNING ON	71 72
	STEP 2: THE AIMS MENU (ON-LINE) STEP 3: PRINTING MEDIA POOL	72
	INFORMATION (ON-LINE) STEP 4: MATCHING OBJECTIVES TO/ INSTRUCTIONAL ATTRIBUTES	73
	(ON-LINE)	73 75
III.	USING THE PRINT FUNCTIONS FUNCTION 1: LIST MEDIA. FUNCTION 2: LIST ATTRIBUTES. FUNCTION 3: LIST MEDIA/ATTRIBUTES TABLE. FUNCTION 4: CREATE SELECTION WORKSHEET. FUNCTION 5: PRINT SELECTION DATA.	82 82 84 84 84 84
IV.	EDITING THE MEDIA POOL FUNCTION 1: ADD A MEDIUM FUNCTION 2: ADD AN ATTRIBUTE FUNCTION 3: CHANGE A RATING FUNCTION 4: CHANGE A MEDIUM FUNCTION 5: CHANGE AN ATTRIBUTE.	88 89 89 89 89 90
۷.	CREATING A UNIQUE MEDIA POOL	91
	POOL (OFF-LINE)	91
	DATA BASE (ON-LINE)	96
VI.	REFINING THE SELECTION PROCESS	98

MECEDING PAUE BLANK-NOT FILMED

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure

Page

.

A-1.	EXAMPLE OF COMPLETED MEDIA SELECTION	
	WORKSHEET USING THE STANDARD	
	AIMS MEDIA POOL	74
Α-2.	EXAMPLE OF MEDIA SELECTION PRINTOUT	
	USING THE STANDARD AIMS MEDIA POOL	77
A-3.	EXAMPLE OF FINAL TABULATION SUMMARY	
	FOR MEDIA SELECTED FOR A GROUP	
	OF OBJECTIVES	78
4-4.	EXAMPLE OF PRINTOUT FOR SELECTED MEDIA	
	BY OBJECTIVE NUMBERS	81
A-5.	PRINTOUT OF THE MEDIA LISTED	•••
	ON THE FILE AIMS	83
A-6.	PRINTOUT OF THE ATTRIBUTES	
	LISTED ON THE FILE AIMS	85
A-7.	PRINTOUT OF THE MEDIA X ATTRIBUTES	
	TABLE FOR THE FILE AIMS	66
A-8.	SAMPLE LISTING OF MEDIA ON	
	THE NEW FILE POOL	92
A-9.	SAMPLE LISTING OF ATTRIBUTES	
	ON THE NEW FILE POOL	93
A-10.	SAMPLE MEDIA BY ATTRIBUTES	20
	MATRIX FOR THE FILE POOL	95

SECTION I

INTRODUCTION

Selecting the most effective and efficient media for a training program is a difficult task. For each training objective, there are specific instructional characteristics and requirements which must be met. And for each individual set of instructional requirements, there are usually several media available that meet those requirements. These media, in turn, vary both generally in their ability to deliver instruction and specifically in their ability to meet the exact requirements of a given objective.

In the past, media selection models have tended to group training objectives into broad, general media categories such as "CAI," "workbook" or "simulator." Beyond this level, there were few systematic techniques for further specifying the exact media to employ or to purchase. The media pools from which the models made their selections were rigid and confined. Few models were designed to be adaptable to meet the needs of a variety of training system development programs, and few could be updated to change with emerging weapon systems or changing media technologies. The Automated Instructional Media Selection (AIMS) model was designed to overcome most of the earlier shortcomings. The system provides a general media pool from which to make selections, but this pool is completely editable and updatable. In fact, the user of the system can develop a completely unique media pool, specifically tailored to the needs of a given training program and input the pool into the computer as a data base without the assistance of computer specialists or programming personnel.

The system is designed to allow for an efficient division of labor among personnel. Media specialists can focus on developing media pools, listing up to 99 potential media from which to select, and up to 99 media attributes. Each medium's ability to deliver each attribute can be weighted independently by the media experts to then allow the computer to make final discriminations among the selected media. Educational specialists and subject matter experts can focus on determining the instructional characteristics necessary to meet each training objective. A simple checklist is provided to simplify and facilitate this task. Clerical personnel can enter all data into the computer, and the computer, in turn, assesses, selects, calculates, ranks, prints out, and records the most appropriate media for each objective within a matter of seconds.

This manual is designed to provide general instructions for using the AIMS programs. It is not intended to provide a course in instructional design or media selection. Even if you are quite unfamiliar with computers, stepping through each program on-line with the computer, using this manual as a guide, will provide enough knowledge and practice to allow you to use the system without the need for special programming skills.

Good luck. You can expect to make some mistakes when first familiarizing yourself with the system, but the computer will help by catching some mistakes and sounding a tone when they occur. As you gain
experience with the system and better understand its capabilities, the possibilities and potential grow as far as your imagination will let them, and the work load of the media selection process lessens.

÷

SECTION II

USING THE AIMS SYSTEM

The Automated Instructional Media Selection (AIMS) model is designed to provide rapid access to a data base of up to 99 media and up to 99 instructional characteristics. The basic procedures of the system require that the persons responsible for designing and developing instruction determine the instructional characteristics and media attributes necessary to achieve a given training objective. Once these requirements are determined, the data are entered into the computer. The computer then selects those media which best match the instructional requirements of the training objective. The selected media are ranked in order of appropriateness, and the number of times each medium is selected is tabulated and printed out in a report.

The system contains many instructional passages and menus that appear throughout the program to make it self-explanatory, but a review of this manual is recommended before attempting to do any serious work on the system. Initially, you should step through each phase of the AIMS programs with this manual as a guide. Some of the steps in the procedure are off-line. That is, they take place on paper without the use of the computer. Other steps are on-line, and require direct interaction with the computer. In general, the computer does all of the tasks requiring "rote labor" (such as checking the appropriateness of various media for objectives, calculating rankings, printing and filing information), while a knowledgeable human being is still required for those judgmental tasks requiring experience and expertise (such as determining the necessary instructional characteristics of a given objective).

Although the user does not need to know anything about computer science or computer programming to use the AIMS system, typically a person with some computer experience is required to get the system up and running on a given computer. A programmer's guide with the information necessary to perform that task is available. However, as the user, you can begin learning to use the system by following the six steps below.

These steps describe how to operate the AIMS system using the standard AIMS media pool. However one of the strengths of the AIMS system is that the user can edit any aspect of the media pool at any time to make it more accurately fit the characteristics of the training program or more realistically reflect the readily available media alternatives. The user can even create an entirely new media pool without disturbing the standard AIMS media pool. If you want to update or refine the standard AIMS media pool or create your own media pool, refer to Sections IV, V, and VI of this manual before completing Steps 3 through 6 below.

STEP 1: GETTING THE SYSTEM RUNNING O' THE COMPULER (ON-LINE)

The first step is to turn on the computer and the printer. Then, typically, you will want to insert the AIMS disk into Drive A (or Drive 1) and, if your system has a second disk drive, you will want to insert a data disk into it. If you are already confused, consult someone who knows something about your particular computer system and how the AIMS system is set up on it. Then, when you are "booted up," you will want to type RUN AIMS followed by a <RETURN>* or 'ENTER'. If that does not work, try typing CRUN2 AIMS followed by a <RETURN> or 'ENTER'. The AIMS menu should appear on the screen.

STEP 2: THE AIMS MENU (ON-LINE)

When the menu appears on the screen, it will read as follows. . .

WELCOME TO AIMS

The Automated Instructional Media Selection (AIMS) model is designed to select media from either a standardized media pool, called AIMS, or from a user-defined media pool. The first step, here, is to type in the name of the media pool you will be using. If you want to use the standard AIMS pool, just type in AIMS followed by a <RETURN>. If you are going to be creating a new media pool, type in an original name (no more than & characters, please, and no blank spaces or punctuation marks).

ENTER THE NAME OF THE MEDIA POOL YOU WILL BE USING :

The following steps assume you will be using the standard media pool for the AIMS system. Its name is AIMS, so type in AIMS <RETURN>. If the computer comes back and says . . .

THAT FILE DOES NOT EXIST : DO YOU WISH TO CREATE A NEW MEDIA POOL WITH THE NAME 'AIMS' ? (Y/N)

type in an N <RETURN> and consult your programmer. Otherwise you should see the following message \ldots

YOU CAN OPT TO DO ANY OF THE SEVERAL FUNCTIONS BELOW AT THIS POINT. EACH OF THESE FUNCTIONS IS DESCRIBED IN DETAIL IN THE USER'S MANUAL.

SELECT THE FUNCTION YOU WISH TO PERFORM FROM THE CHOICES BELOW:

- 1. SELECT MEDIA
- 2. CREATE A MEDIA POOL DATA BASE
- 3. EDIT A MEDIA POOL
- 4. PRINT MEDIA POOL/SELECTION INFORMATION
- 5. RETURN TO OPERATING SYSTEM

* The symbol <RETURN> refers to depressing the carriage return key (called the 'ENTER' key on some computers). All user inputs are generally followed by a <RETURN>.

If you wish to create a unique media pool or change the standard AIMS media pool, you should select function 2 or 3 from the AIMS menu before going on to Step 3.

STEP 3: PRINTING MEDIA POOL INFORMATION (ON-LINE)

Before you actually select media (function 1 from the AIMS menu), you will need information about the AIMS media pool. This is a simple process.

Select function 4 PRINT MEDIA POOL/SELECTION INFORMATION from the START menu by typing in a 4 <RETURN>. The PRINT menu will then appear on the screen. Refer to Section III of this manual for detailed descriptions and examples of the print functions.

STEP 4: MATCHING OBJECTIVES TO INSTRUCTIONAL ATTRIBUTES (OFF-LINE)

The next step in the media selection procedure takes place without the aid of the computer. This is one of those human, judgmental tasks that the computer cannot perform. The procedure is as follows. First, you need to obtain a list of the objectives (or task statements) for which you are interested in selecting media. Next, you need to make at least one selection worksheet for each objective on that list either by printing the worksheet repeatedly with the computer or by photocopying the original. Then, stepping through one objective at a time, fill in the objective number on a worksheet. You can jot down the objective in the space provided on the worksheet, if you so desire. Finally, check off the boxes on the worksheet that represent the instructional characteristics required to meet the objective under consideration.

Figure A-1 shows a completed worksheet for hypothetical objective number 1.1.2., STATE INSPECTION POINTS OF LIFE VEST. As shown, the person determining the necessary instructional attributes for this objective felt it should be classified as (1) Cognitive learning type with display characteristics of (4) Verbal/Text and (6) Drawings as sufficient instructional attributes. Hence, the appropriate boxes are checked off on the worksheet.

As another example, the objective PERFORM EMERGENCY PROCEDURES FOR NAVIGATION EQUIPMENT FAILURE would probably be classified as Psychomotor learning type and require more extensive instructional characteristics, such as Kinesthetic Cues, Immediate Feedback, Manipulative Response and Grew/Team Interaction. If this were the case, then the appropriate boxes would be checked off on the worksheet for that objective and the computer would make selections accordingly.

In general, it is best to perform this step for a group of objectives before going back on-line with the computer. There will often be disagreements among raters as to what are essential characteristics, but this is a human, judgmental task that the computer cannot aid in. Once a number of worksheets have been completed, you can go back on-line to begin the next step.

SELECTION WORKSHEET FOR USE WITH THE FIL	LE : AIMS
Objective Number: 1.1.2	
Objective: STATE INSPECT	TON POINTS
OF LIFE DEST	_
Put a check in the boxes next to th any medium which might be used to m	ne attributes required of meet this objective.
 * I. TYPE OF LEARNING I. Cognitive 2. Psychomotor 3. Affective (attitudinal) * II. DISPLAY CHARACTERISTICS I. Verbal/Text S. Photographs I. Diagrams R. Colors S. Visual Motion (constant) I. J. J. Dimensional I. J. Audio (voice) I. Audio (ambient) I. Tactile Cues 	 1 23. Continuous Response * IV. EVALUATION MODE 1 24. Instructor Evaluation 1 25. Self Evaluation 1 26. Peer Evaluation 1 27. Automated Evaluation 1 28. Verbal/Written Eval. 1 29. Immediate on Response 1 30. Immediate on Error 31. Post-Session Evaluation * V. ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS 1 32. Physical Motion 33. Acceleration 34. Pitch/Roll 35. Vibration 36. Restrictive Clothing
 15. Kinesthetic Cues 11. RESPONSE MODE 13. Verbal/written response 14. Decision Indicator 19. Fine Motor Response 20. Gross Motor Response 21. Tracking Response 22. Manipulative Response 	 VI. LEARNING LEVELS 1 1 37. a. Familiarity 1 38. b. Perform Procedure 1 39. c. Perform Job 1 40. d. Perform Mission * VII. SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS 1 41. Crew/Team Interaction 1 42. Large Memorization Comp 1 43. Random Access Logic

Figure A-1. Example of completed media selection worksheet using the standard AIMS media pool.

STEP 5: SELECTING MEDIA (ON-LINE)

If you disconnect yourself from the computer to perform the previous step, you will have to get the AIMS system up and running on the computer again. Then you will need to key in the appropriate file name (AIMS) and selec. function 1, SELECT MEDIA, from the START menu. If you are still online, just type in a 1 <RETURN>. You will get the following message on the CRT . .

TO USE THE MEDIA POOL, AIMS, MAKE SURE THAT THIS FILENAME APPEARS AT THE TOP OF THE WORKSHEET THAT YOU WILL BE KEYING IN THE DATA FROM. THEN TYPE IN EACH OF THE NUMBERS THAT HAVE BEEN CHECKED OFF ON THE WORKSHEET, BEING SURE TO FOLLOW EACH NUMBER WITH A <RETURN>. FOR EXAMPLE, IF BOXES 1, 3, 9, AND 14 ARE CHECKED OFF ON THE WORKSHEET, YOU WANT TO TYPE IN:

> 1 <RETURN> 3 <RETURN> 9 <RETURN> 14 <RETURN> 0 <RETURN>

WHEN YOU ARE DONE, TYPE IN A 'O' AS THE LAST NUMBER. IF YOU NEED MORE INFORMATION, REFER TO THE USER'S MANUAL.

STRIKE ANY KEY (FOLLOWED BY <RETURN>)WHEN READY TO CONTINUE :

Going back to the first example, you want the computer to select media with attributes (1) Cognitive learning type, (4) Verbal/Text and (6) Drawings for objective 1.1.2. First, strike a key and hit <RETURN>. You will get the following message. .

DO YOU WANT TO PRINT OUT SELECTION MEDIA ON PAPER (Y/N) ? :

If you are hooked up to a printer, type in a Y <RETURN>, otherwise type in a N <RETURN>. Then the message \ldots

WHAT OBJECTIVE NUMBER DO YOU WANT TO ACCESS ? :

appears on the screen. At this point, simply key the objective number from the worksheet into the computer, followed by a <RETURN>. (In the present example, you would type in 1.1.2 <RETURN>.) The next message to appear on the screen is . . .

ENTER AN ATTRIBUTE NUMBER (or 0 if done) :

Referring to the worksheet for the example (Figure A-1), you see that 1 is the first box checked off, so you would key in a 1 <RETURN>. The very same message appears on the screen a_{S} in. The screen looks like this now . . .

ENTER AN ATTRIBUTE NUMBER (or O if done) : 1 ENTER AN ATTRIBUTE NUMBER (or O if done) :

The computer is expecting another attribute number. The next one checked off on the worksheet for the example is a 4. If you key this number in, you get the same message again. Only this time the screen looks like this . . .

ENTER AN ATTRIBUTE NUMBER (or O if done) : 1 ENTER AN ATTRIBUTE NUMBER (or O if done) : 4 ENTER AN ATTRIBUTE NUMBER (or O if done) :

The next attribute number in the example is 6, so you would key in a 6 <RETURN>. Since you do not have any more attributes to key in, you would type in a 0 <RETURN>. At this point, the computer begins its work. It looks at each medium in the media pool and selects those media which have the attributes you have entered. Next, it looks at how those media have been rated in relation to the selected attributes and decides which is the best medium for these attributes, the second best medium, third best medium, etc. Then, it prints out the results on either the CRT or the printer (depending on how you responded to the previous hardcopy question).

Figure A-2 is an example of the printout provided by the computer describing its selection of media for objective number 1.1.2. As shown, the media are printed out in rank-order fashion based on the numbers in the specific rating column. This specific rating is the computer's calculation well the selected medium meets the specific instructional of how characteristics of this objective. Note that several media were selected, with Workbook as the primary choice. Generally you will not be too concerned about the media selected for a single objective, since it is media information about groups of objectives that is important in the selection The AIMS system provides information about media selections for process. groups of objectives in Step 6. For now, you need to keep keying in data about the instructional characteristics of the objectives. To do so, answer the computer's next question . . .

ARE YOU READY FOR THE NEXT OBJECTIVE (Y/N) :

by keying in a Y <RETURN>. The computer will repeat the process just described by first requesting the objective number, then the specific instructional characteristics of that objective. Repeat this process until all of the objectives for a given group have been "mediated." Then, when the computer asks if you are ready for the next objective type in an N <RETURN> and the computer will print out a summary of the media selections made for a given group of objectives.

Figure A-3 presents an example of a final tabulation summary. The media are presented in order of most- to-least selected, with non-selected media not listed. The report indicates 55 objectives were input in this group. The next two columns describe how many times each medium was selected and the percent of objectives which were satisfied by this medium, respectively.

MEDIA SELECTION FOR OBJECTIVE 1.1.2

MEDIUM	SPECIFIC RATING	GENERAL RATING
		-
Workbook	3.750	3.5
Random Access Slides	3.250	3.15
Lecture	3 .25 0	3.217
Motion Picture	2.750	2.947
Videodisc	2.500	3.142
Syncro-Pulse (Cue-See)	2.500	2.952
Slides	2.500	2.937
Video Tape	2.250	3.012
	MEDIUM Workbook Random Access Slides Lecture Motion Picture Videodisc Syncro-Pulse (Cue-See) Slides Video Tape	MEDIUM RATING Workbook 3.750 Random Access Slides 3.250 Lecture 3.250 Motion Picture 2.750 Videodisc 2.500 Syncro-Pulse (Cue-See) 2.500 Slides 2.500 Video Tape 2.250

Figure A-2. Example of media selection printout using the standard AIMS media pool.

•

MEDIA SELECTION: FINAL TABULATION FOR 55 OBJECTIVES:

	# OF OBJECTIVES	% OF OBJECTI VE S	MEDIUM
1.	44	0.300	OP. Equip./OP.Environment
2.	37	0.673	Team Trainer
3.	33	0.600	Part Task Trainer
4.	25	0.455	Demonstration
5.	22	0.400	GETS
5.	22	0.400	CAI
7.	20	0.364	PLATO + Videodisc
8.	19	0.345	Slides/Audio
9.	19	0.345	Motion Picture/Videotape
10.	17	0.309	Besseler Cue-See
11.	17	0.309	TICCIT + Videodisc
12.	15	0.273	Lecture
13.	12	0.218	3-D Mock-up
14.	12	0.218	OP. Equip./Lab
15.	12	0.218	Teaching Machine
16.	11	0.200	Slides
17.	11	0.200	Audio Tape
18.	10	0.182	Procedural Trainer
19.	10	0.182	Random Access Slides
20.	9	0.164	Workbook
21.	8	0.145	Group Discussion
22.	5	0.091	2-D Mock-up

Figure A-3. Example of final tabulation summary for media selected for a group of objectives.

The name of the medium is presented in the last column. So in the example in Figure A-3, the medium OP. Equipment was selected 44 times (out of 55 possible). It satisfied 80 percent of the 55 objectives. Medium number 22 on the list, 2-D Mock-up, was selected only five times, satisfying only 9 percent of the objectives.

The final tabulation summary is valuable in providing an overview of the media most applicable to a given set of objectives. This is particularly important during very early stages of training systems development when a general overview of eventual media needs is all that can be expected. The rank order of the media also gives some idea of the criticality of each medium for that set of objectives.

However, as described in Step 6 below, more information is available about the computer's selection of media than the summary provides. The computer also keeps a record of each objective number and the five highestranked media selected for each objective, as well as the specific rating assigned each medium. Depending on how your programmer sets up the system, you will probably have different data bases of objectives with their selected media on separate disks.

STEP 6: PRINTING SELECTION DATA (ON-LINE)

When all of the objectives in a given group have been through the selection process, you will probably want information about the media characteristics and media combinations. The AIMS system provides this through function 4, PRINT MEDIA POOL/SELECTION INFORMATION, on the START menu. When you select this function, you will get the PRINT menu. When you select function 5, PRINT SELECTION DATA, from the PRINT menu you get the following series of events.

First, the computer informs you that . . .

THIS PROGRAM ALLOWS YOU TO SEARCH OUT OBJECTIVES WITH A GIVEN MEDIUM OR MEDIA COMBINATION

then asks . . .

DO YOU WISH TO LIST OUT THOSE OBJECTIVES FOR WHICH NO MEDIA WERE SELECTED (Y/N) :

If you type in a Y <RETURN> in response to the question, the computer will ask . . .

DO YOU WANT A HARD COPY OF THE DATA (Y/N):

If you type in a Y <RETURN>, the computer will print on paper those objective numbers for which no media were selected. Otherwise it will list those objective numbers on the screen. The computer then displays a new message . .

THIS PROGRAM ALLOWS YOU TO KEY IN UP TO 5 MEDIA, AND THEN SEARCHES THE DATA FILE FOR OBJECTIVES WHICH HAVE THOSE MEDIA. YOU CAN ENTER ANY COMBINATION OF MEDIA THAT YOU WISH.

Then the computer asks . . .

ENTER THE FIRST MEDIUM NUMBER (O if done) :

At this point, you need to have a list of media on the data base. Then you can search for any medium or combination of media among the objectives by typing in the media you are interested in. For example, if you want to pull out .1' of the objectives for which both Medium 1 and Medium 2 were selected, you would type in a 1 <RETURN>. Then the CRT would look like this . . .

ENTER THE FIRST MEDIUM NUMBER (O if done) : 1 ENTER THE SECOND MEDIUM NUMBER (O if done) :

Then you would type in a 2 <RETURN> and the screen would look like this \ldots

ENTER THE FIRST MEDIUM NUMBER (O if done) : 1 ENTER THE SECOND MEDIUM NUMBER (O if done) : 2 ENTER THE THIRD MEDIUM NUMBER (O if done) :

Since you are only interested in Medium 1 and Medium 2, type in a O $<\!\!\text{RETURN}\!\!>$. The computer then double checks for accuracy by printing on the CRT. . .

1. FIRST MEDIUM : 1. WORKBOOK 2. SECOND MEDIUM: 2. LECTURE

IS THIS OK ? (Y/N):

Since this is what you wanted, type in a Y <RETURN>. Then the computer goes to work finding all of the objectives for which these two media were selected. Figure A-4 is an example of a report generated by this program. Note that up to five media are listed for each objective. These are the five highest-ranked media selected for that objective during the selection procedure. The specific rating for each medium is also included.

This function is valuable for grouping objectives into media categories, which often helps in determining how to organize lessons. With experience, the function of searching the objectives for certain media or combinations of media becomes the most powerful aspect of the AIMS system. Using this function, it is possible to try out a variety of media combinations without a great deal of e fort to see how the objectives and selected media relate.

-

.

.

OBJECTIVES WITH THE FOLLOWING MEDIA ON THE FILE : 'AIMS'

1. FIRST MEDIUM : 1 Workbook 2. SECOND MEDIUM : 2 Lecture

.

Ob	jective Number 1.2.4.3				
1.	Workbook	4.75 '	2.	Syncro-Pulse (Cue-See)	4.00
з.	Videodisc	3.37	4.	Random Access Slides	3.37
5.	Lecture	3.87			

Objective Number 2.1.1.1.2			
1. Workbook	3.75	2. Random Access Slides	3.25
3. Lecture	3.25	4. Motion Picture	2.75
5. Videodisc	2.50		

Figure A-4. Example of printout for selected media by objective numbers.



.

SECTION III

USING THE PRINT FUNCTIONS

The print functions of AIMS re valuable for obtaining written records of the contents of various files. Generally, whenever a new data base is created, you will want to use the print functions to check your accuracy in regard in the data. To access the print functions, you need to select the tran 4, PRINT MEDIA PGGE/SELECTION INFORMATION, from the START menu. The const CRT request will be. . .

WHAT MEDIA POOL DO YOU WANT TO ACCESS?

Enter the name of the media pool you wish to access. This will be the media pool you will be accessing as long as you are in the print function, regardless of now many different programs you use. To change media pools, you have to return to the START menu and re-access the print functions.

ince you have entered a valid file name, the CRT displays. . .

PRINT MENU

PRINT OFFICENS FOR (your file name)

LIST MEDIA
 LIST ATTRIBUTES
 LIST MEDIA/ATTRIBUTES TABLE
 CREATE SELECTION WORKSHEET
 PRINT SELECTION DATA
 RETURN TO START

END F YOUR SELECTION KRETURN>:

Each time you select a given print function, the computer will ask. . .

DO YOU WANT A PAPER COPY OF THE OUTPUT (Y OR N)?

If you have a printer that is ready to print, type in a Y <RETURN> to produce a handcopy of the output. Coherwise, type in an N <RETURN> and it will just be listed on the CRT. The flat five functions are described below. When you type in a 6 <RETURN>, you will go out of the print functions back - to the START menu.

FUNCTION 1: LIST MEDIA

when you select function 1 and request a paper copy of the output, a listing of all the media on the requested media pool will be produced on the printer. Figure A-5 shows a listing of the AIMS media pool. The name of the listing pool is included on the listing, so if something seems amiss on your putput make sure you have requested the correct media pool. If not, return to the START menu and request the print functions by typing in a 4 <RETURN>.

MEDIA LISTED ON THE FILE : AIMS

1	Workbook
2	Lecture
3	Slides
4	Slide/Tape
5	Audio Tape
6	Random Access Slides
7	Motion Picture
3	Video Tape
0	Synamo-Pulse (Cue-See)
10	Videodisc
11	Teaching Machine
12	2-D Mock-up
13	3-D Mock-up
14	Procedural Trainer
15	Part Task Trainer
16	Team T rainer
17	Weapon Systems Trainer
18	High Fidelity Simulator
19	Realia (Actual Equipment)
20	CAI: TICCIT
21	CAI: PLATO
22	CMI/Workbook

Figure A-5. Printout of the media listed on the file AIMS.

FUNCTION 2: LIST ATTRIBUTES

Figure A-6 shows an attributes listing from the AIMS melli pool. The procedure for producing the attributes list is identical to the method for listing melia. However, on the attributes listing, the headings preceded by an asterisk are in Roman numeral order. This was accomplished when the data base was originally put on-line. Type in an "*" when typing in your heading, followed by the appropriate Roman numeral, then the attribute heading. The nearlings will be stored exactly as you type them in.

FUNCTION 3: LIST MEDIA/ATTRIBUTES TABLE

Figure A-7 provides the media by attributes table for the AIMS media $p\infty$. This printout is a little more complex than the others. It displays:

- a. The file (melia ∞ ol) name
- b. All media names (in rows)
- c. Attribute numbers (across top column)
- d. All ratings between media and attributes (individed cells)

The attribute numbers which appear across the top row are taken from the attributes listing. Only the numbers are presented since it is impossible to print out attribute names to fit into vertical columns. The relationship between the media and the attributes are rated on a scale of 0 (no relationship) to 5 (strong relationship).

FUNCTION 4: CREATE SELECTION WORKSHEET

The selection worksheets are produced by the computer to allow training systems designers and developers to determine the instructional characteristics necessary to deliver instruction for each objective. This function was described in detail in Section II, Step 4.

FUNCTION 5: PRINT SELECTION DATA

The selection data for a given group of objectives is analyzed and then summarized by the componen to determine the best medium or making combinations. This function was described in detail in Section II, Step 6.

NAVTRACED N 76-C-0104-1

	ATT	IBUTE	S_E!		2	. 001	-	:	А	IMS	
	<u>_</u> 1.	ITPE	U.	te no da da	.ix. 11						
	1.	Logni	C194								
	2.	Psych	iomo t	. ل م			- 5 5				,
	3.	Attec	17Vc	- <u> </u>		. a tilu To to to					
	*11.	. DISP	LAY	្រាកព	.he i i	.612	1102				
	4.	Verba	1/16	5 A. L							
	5.	Photo	igra;)*).							
	6.	Drawi	ngs								
	7.	Diagr	ams								
	8.	Color	'S				,				
	9.	Visua	1 M.	it i dr		15. * ,	ant)				
	10.	Visua	n Mu	ng sen	۰.	ំដ	bie)				
	11.	3-Din	ensi	er en l'a							
	12.	Audic) (vo	sici.							
	13.	Audic	5) (a	To 1923							
	14.	Tacti	12 -	- La la							
	15.	Kines	the	556 î							
	*H	I. RES	SPONS	SE SI	1.0						
	16.	Verba	il/w:	- L.		- j	Se				
	17.	Voice	e re:	sji Gr	· ·						
	18.	Decis	sion	laar	nau u	,. :C					
	19.	Fine	M. t.	$\mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{F}$	· ·						
	20.	Gross	s Mo	tcr -	e de la	inse					
	21.	Traci	ding	1.11							
	22.	Mani	oula	6 . v 1 .	4	ons	e				
	23.	Cont	inuo	as in:		se					
	*1V	. EVAL	UAT.	i î î e e	,						
	24.	Insti	ructo	or Év	ean a	atio	n				
	25.	Self	Eva								
	26.	Peer	Eva	1 J	ė.						
	27.	Autor	nate:	e i s							
	28.	Verba		(. r .	ηĽ.					
	29.	Imme	tint	i-		0r.s	5				
	30.	Imme	diate	6 11		. 1					
	31	Pos*	-575				ton.				
	×ν	ENVE	RENM				TONS				
	32	Phys	ical								
	33.	Acce	lera	ti i							
	34	Pitcl	h/Ra	1							
	35	Vibr	atio								
	36	Rest	nici				:				
	±00.	LEA	RNIN	-							
	37	a E	amili								
	38	ь P	orte.			. Y 12	2				
	20. 20.	с. Р.	er:c ertc	r	•						
	40	d P	erio	•••							
	+0. ★VT	T CP	ECIA		·	EMEN	ITS				
	11	(row	17. 0		,		n				
	41. A2	larn	$\rho = v$		•		โดเมนิกท	ent			
	42.	Rand	 Or:	¢ 1		. j.	2.2mp.0m	~			
Figure	4J. A C	Drin+	01. <i>1</i>			ي. و بر م اد	Lites	in	the	נטטמ	ATMS
riyure	A-0.	ET HIG	.,						0.70	P	

.

assigned to a given medium on the data base can be determined by cross-referencing this list of numbers with a numbered listing of the attributes themselves. This report lists the media on file AIMS, and provides a list of numbers corresponding to the attributes on this file. The attributes

LIN I	RIBUTE NUMBER>	-	~	e	4	2	9	2	80 J	9 10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	50
	MEDIA	1	1 1 2	• • •	1														1	1
-	Workbook	2	0		S	e	S	5		0	0	0	0	0	0	S	0	0	0	0
<u>~</u>	Lecture	ഹ	0	S		4	4	4	-+	_	2	5		0	0	n	S	0	0	0
т.	S11 des	ഹ	0	4	2	ഹ	ন	4		0	0	0	0	0	0	4	,4	0	0	0
4	S1 i de/Ta pe	ഹ	0	đ	~	S	4	4		0	0	ŝ	4	0	0	0	1	0	0	0
5.	Audio Tape	S	0	~	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	ഗ	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
۰. م	Random Access Slides	S	0	2	പ	ۍ	च	4	5	0	0	4	4	0	0	1	4	4	0	0
7.	Motion Picture	ഹ	0	ഹ	4	4	ŝ			с С	0	S	e	0	0	1	-1	0	0	0
α'	Video Tape	ഹ	0	ഹ		S	4	4		5	0	ഹ	ŗ,	0	0		-1	0	0	0
6.	Syncro-Pulse (Cue-See)	ഹ	0	-1	4	4	4	4	-	4	0 -	0	0	0	0	-	-	0	0	0
<u>1</u> 0.	Vi deodi sc	ഹ	0	ഹ	4	4	4	4		ى م	0	ŝ	e	0	0	-	1	0	0	0
11.	Teaching Machine	ഹ	0	0	പ	0	0	0	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	0	ഹ	0	0
12.	2-D Mock-up	~	4	0	0	0	0	0	- -	0	0	0	2	-	S	0	0	-	ഹ	ഹ
13.	3-D Mock-up	0	ഹ	0	0	0	~~		т С	0	5	0	0	0	ഹ	0	4	~	ഹ	ŝ
14.	Procedural Trainer	0	പ	0	0	4	0	~		~	ۍ م	S	e	ŝ	ഹ	0	S	-	ĥ	ഹ
15.	Part Task Trainer	0	ഹ	0	0	0	0	~	5		ۍ م	4	4	ഹ	ഹ	0	4	-	ഹ	ഹ
16.	Team Trainer	0	ഹ	0	0	0			5	5	<u>م</u>	4	4	S	ഹ	0	ഹ	-1	ഹ	S
17.	Weapon Systems Trainer	0	S	0	0	0	0	0		ц. С	ی د	4	4	ഹ	5	0	ഹ	1	S	ഹ
1,8	High Fidelity Simulator	0	ഹ	0	0	0	0	0		ц. С	<u>د</u>	ŝ	S	ŝ	ഹ	0	S	1	ഹ	ഹ
19.	Realia (Actual Equipment	0	ഹ	0	0	0	0	0		ц, С	ۍ د	S	2	2	S	0	ഹ		ഹ	ې
20.	CAI: TICCIT	ഹ	0	ഹ	4		0		_	•	<u>م</u>	-	****	0	0		0	S	0	0
21.	CAI: PLATO ·	ഹ	0	ഹ	4	1	0		_		ۍ س	-	٦	0	0		0	£	0	0
22.	CMI/Workbook	5	0	-	2	-	-			0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	2	0	0

Printout of the media x attributes table for the file AIMS.

Figure A-7.

NAVTRAEQUIPCEN 79-C-0104-1

NAVTRAEQUIPCEN	79-0-0104-1
----------------	-------------

ATTR	IBUTE NUMBER	<u>^</u>	12	22	53	24 2	5 2	6 2	7 2	8 2	9 9 9	3	1 33	33	34	. 35	36	37	38	39	40	41	42	43
1 1	MEDIA		1	i t	; ; ;	1	1 1	1 l 1	l 1 1	1 1 1	i 1 1	1 	i 1	, ((1	1 	1	1 1 1	1 t 1	1 1	t 1		1	1
- ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~	Workbook Lecture Siides Siide/Tape Audie Tape Randem Access Sii Metion Ficture Video Tape Video Tape Video Tape Cue Video Tape Video Tape Video Tape Video Tape Video Tape Video Tape Teaching Machine Teaching Machine Teaching Machine Teaching Machine Teaching Machine Tean Trainer Fainer Team Trainer Team Trainer Cal: PLATO CAI: PLATO CAI: PLATO	er See) at ner nul at or qui pment	00000000000000000000000000000000000000	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	ちちん 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	ຑຑຑຑຑຑຑຑຎຨຨຨຨຨຒຒຒຒຘຨຨຨ	<u>~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~</u>	000000000 4000440 000	64								۵ 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	00000000000000000000000000000000000000	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	00000000000000000000000000000000000000	00000000000000000000000000000000000000	мана а на 4 4 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	
• • • •	UNI/WUFKDOUK		>	>	>	n	V	>	>	5	- ->	-	 	~	_	- -	> -	>	Ð	þ	0	>	-	Þ

Figure A-7. Continued.

MEDIA X ATTRIBUTES TABLE ** CONTINUED **

.**.**

SECTION IV

EDITING THE MEDIA POOL

It is unlikely that a standard media pool will be satisfactory for many selection problems. It is also unlikely that a satisfactory media pool will stay satisfactory indefinitely. Therefore, the AIMS system provides the user with several editing functions which can be used to update or change the media pool data base on-line. These editing functions include: (a) adding a medium to the media pool, (b) adding an attribute to the media pool, (c) changing a single rating between a given medium and a given attribute, and (d) changing a given medium or attribute and all of the ratings that go with it.

Section VI provides a theoretical discussion of how media selections for individual objectives can be used to refine the selection process. The mechanics of editing the media pool for purposes of refinement are described here. During this process, the computer provides instructions to the user and any error that you may make (other than spelling of a medium or attribute) will be caught by the computer and you will be able to correct the error quite easily.

The START menu allows you to select function 3, EDIT A MEDIA POOL. When you type in a 3 <RETURN>, the following menu appears on the screen.

EDIT MENU

WHICH FUNCTION DO YOU WISH TO PERFORM ?

ADD A MEDIUM
 ADD AN ATTRIBUTE
 CHANGE A RATING
 CHANGE A MEDIUM
 CHANGE AN ATTRIBUTE
 RETURN TO AIMS MENU

The first five functions are described below. When you type in a 6 <RETURN>, you will go out of the EDIT menu back to the START menu.

FUNCTION 1: ADD A MEDIUM

Changes in budgets, training programs, and technology bring about the need for most training systems designers to consider an ever-expanding range of media. New media can be added to the media pool quite easily by selecting function 1 on the EDIT menu. However, remember that every new medium you add will have to be cross-referenced with all of the attributes on the media pool. It is best to take care of this procedure on paper before working online. (You can review this procedure in Section V of the manual under the heading "Cross-reference media and their attributes.")

When you type in a 1 <RETURN>, the computer displays . . .

WHAT IS THE NAME OF THE MEDIUM TO BE ADDED?

Then type in the name of the medium to be added, followed by a <RETURN>. Next you will be asked to relate that medium to the attributes in the media pool using the scale of 0 (no relationship) to 5 (strong relationship) discussed in Section V. The computer will automatically advance you through the attributes and inform you when it is done. At this point, you will return to the START menu by typing in a 6 <RETURN>.

FUNCTION 2: ADD AN ATTRIBUTE

This function allows you to add new attributes to the media pool data base. The ability to add attributes is very valuable in refining the selection process, as discussed in Section VI of this manual. Like function 1, any new attributes that you add will have to be cross-referenced with all the media in the pool. This procedure is best performed off-line before using the computer. (You can review this procedure in Section V of the manual under the heading "Cross-reference model and their attributes.")

When you type in a 2 <RETURN> the computer displays . . .

THIS WILL BE AN ATTRIBUTE (X) ON THE FILE (AIMS) BEFORE USING THIS PROGRAM, MAKE STRE YOU HAVE ALL OF YOUR RATINGS WORKED OUT ON PAPER FIRST

TYPE IN THE NEW ATTRIBUTE FOLLOWED BY A <RETURN>

The computer then requests that you rate each medium with the new attribute using the O-to-5 scale. Upon completion, you will return to the START menu by typing in a 6 KRETURN

FUNCTION 3: CHANGE A RATING

This function allows you come me the rating between any given medium and any given attribute. The medium is simple. When you type in a 3 <RETURN> from the EDIT menu, the computer will ask what medium (by number) you want to change a rating on. Type in the number <RETURN> and it will ask you what attribute (by number) you want to make the change on. Type in the attribute number <RETURN> and the proclype in the new rating by number (0-5) <RETURN>.

FUNCTION 4: CHANGE A MEDIUM

When you select function of them the CDIT menu, the computer displays . . WHICH MEDIUM (by number) 00 M of SH TO CHANGE?:

Type in the number of the medium you wish to change <RETURN>. If that medium number does not exist, the computer will tell you so and ask you to re-enter the medium number. Otherwise the computer will display the medium requested and ask you to key in the new medium <RETURN>. The computer then asks you if you wish to key in new ratings between the new medium and the present attributes on the data base. If you type in an N <RETURN>, the computer will return to the EDIT menu. Otherwise it will step through each attribute and request that you rate the relationship between the medium and attribute again. As discussed earlier, this procedure is best accomplished on paper before working on-line.

FUNCTION 5: CHANGE AN ATTRIBUTE

Like function 4, when you select function 5 the computer will ask you to type in the attribute number to be changed <RETURN>. Then the computer will ask if you wish to change all of the ratings between the new attribute and each medium on the data base. If you merely changed the spelling or wording of the original attribute, then this should not be necessary. If you have replaced the old attribute with an entirely new attribute, you may want to change all of the ratings. To do so, type in a Y <RETURN> and the computer will step through each medium. Determining the rating for each medium/attribute pair should be performed off-line, as discussed earlier.

You will notice that there is no user-oriented capability for eliminating (or deleting) an attribute from the media pool data base. The system was purposely designed without this function as a safeguard to ensure that no major disasters occurred in the selection process. If it were possible for a user to delete an attribute, the following problem could occur. If a given user decided to eliminate, for instance, attribute 10, attribute 12 would become attribute 11, and so forth. Another user, unaware of the change, might key in instructional attributes from worksheets based on the old numbering system. The resulting media selections would then be totally false without the present user necessarily knowing why. So, as a safeguard, users can add or change attributes, but all of the original attributes will retain their original numbers. Considering that the AIMS system allows up to 99 attributes and many of the attributes may be changed by the user, the lack of a capability to delete attributes seems a reasonable safequard.

SECTION V

CREATING A UNIQUE MEDIA POOL

One of the basic assumptions of the AIMS system is that there is no universal media pool suitable for the requirements of all instructional situations. Media pools will necessarily vary in both the media and the instructional characteristics they contain, the level of specificity they require, and many other qualities. Because of this, the AIMS system allows the user to develop project-specific media pools. The media pool can be edited or added to without the need for a programmer to make the changes. The user can update media pools, with a monocol of effort.

STEP 1: DEVELOPING A MEDIA POOL (TALINE)

1. Determine the media to be dered

The first task is to figure the way media might be relevant to a given training project. Make a case of all of the media, or combinations of media, to be included in the pool of the media, or combinations of range of alternatives since the pool can be narrowed if a shorter version is desired for a given undget. Figure A-8 is a sample listing of a new media pool labeled of the once you have determined the media relevant to your training mount means, you can begin the next task.

2. Determine the instruction of the coloristics

Defining the instructional conductaristics or attributes can be a difficult task. Figure least states a sample list of attributes from the media pool POCL. Not construct attributes are clustered into groups of similar characteristics (2) Response Mode, (3) Evaluation Acce, and Cedback, and (5) Special Requirements. Breaking the attributes into cold categories like this simplifies the task of creating the media pock and helps make the list itself a bit more legible.

Using this sample as a guide of the attributes that each medium on your list has. This in terms of the following categories:

a. What are the <u>display in the stics</u>: Does it have printed text, diagrams, color? Does the visual motion? Is it 2-dimensional or 3-dimensional? Does it move itself? What are the stimulus characteristics of the medium?

.

MEDIA LISTUD ON THE FILE : pool

1.	Π.Δ.Τ.
2	Randon Access Slides
2.	Mation Dicture/ Videotane
J.	Hoursh Picture/ Videolage
4.	S 1445/Au310
5.	Augto/Tape
ć.	Slides
7.	Lecture
8.	Demonstration
9	Group Discussion
10	• Prkajak
11	Teaching Machina
12	AP Equip /AP Environment
* C •	OF LUCETION CHVILONNERU
1).	UF, EQUID./Lab
14.	ieam Irainer
15.	Procedural Trainer
16.	Part Task Trainer
17.	3-D Mack-up
16.	2-D Mack-up
19	TICCIT + Videodisc
20	PLATO + Videodire
21	
<u> </u>	
22.	Besseler Lue-See

Figure A-a. Sample listing of media on the new file POOL.

NAVIA, D. CLARENCE MARK

ATTRIBUTED AND A DEELIF : DOOL



Higuni (). Rođenja

 . (tributes per Der .

- b. What is the response mode? Do learners write an answer (verbal/text)? Do they speak the answer? Do they respond IES or NG on a machine (decision indicator)? Do they manipulate a device? What are the response characteristics of the medium?
- c. How does the student receive feedback (evaluation)? Is feedback immediate? Delayed? And only errors fed-back, or correct responses, too? is each response evaluated or is evaluation global, as in post-session feedback where overall behavior is evaluated?
- d. What are the environmental conditions? Classroom? Simulator? Real-world?
- e. What are the special attritutes? Does the device train entire teams? Does the device move? Fly? What is unique about this medium?
- f. Is the medium best suited for a certain type of learning? Cognitive or general knowledge? Affective or attitudinal learning? Psychomotor or performing tasks?
- g. Is the medium biased toward a certain <u>level of learning?</u> Real aircraft for advanced learners? Simulators for intermediate learners? Textbooks for beginning learners?

Next, organize all of the standbules for each medium within these categories and add more categories of necessary. Do not repeat redundanci in the attributes list.

5. Cross-reference media and their attributes

At this point, (()) is concurrer Arcl, which shows a sample completed media bool. Note now the modia are listed down the left-hand column, and the attributes are listed across the top row, creating a media-by-attributes matrix. It is strongly advised that you follow a similar procedure in creating a media productions will reduce the probability of making mores and facilitate call entry during the next step. Therefore, create a patrix with attributes listed across the top and media listed form the left-hand column.

You now want to weight the ability of each medium to deliver each instructional charact rists. The weighting is made with a single number, between 0 and 5. If the attribute has no relationship to this medium, give it a 0. If this attribute is its strong point, give it a 5. If it has the accordance, give it a rating between 1 and 4, depending on now well it provides the attribute being considered. In Figure A-10, note that the medium audio-table is ranked 5 under the attribute audiovoice, indicating the strong relationship between the two. Of course, workbook is ranked 5 under the stornbute audio-voice since it has no capability for only vering this characteristic. Also notice in Figure A-10, that attributes are listed across the top of the table and each

	····· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
	state to the second second second second second second second second second second second second second second
	Ę
ur.	
Attributes 🛌 🚆 🖉 🚆	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	 A state of the second se
n an an an an an an an an an an an an an	- このと にょう
2. Random-Access + + D. Mothor PhotyT = 2	
J. Sindes (Aucho	
5. Audio Tabe 4 g	
7. Lecture	
8. Demonstration : E d	
9. Group Discussion 12. Contraction 10.	
11. Teaching Machinel	
12. 0P. EQUIP (0P. ENV)	
14 Teat Trainer	
15. Proced. Trainert	ξή
ic. Part Task Tr. A.	
16. 2-0 Mook Up	
· Potentia ().	
20. PLATO & KOISC (K. 4)	
21. 3673 / 74	
:A`so Possible	
LL, DESSE ET LLE-LESS (L	and the second se

English 1.2 Structures of the batter Structure (Ver POGL:

Norman and a





MICROCOPY RESOLUTION TEST CHART NATIONAL BOREAU OF STAN, ARDS 1990 A

.

.

attribute is numbered. Headings for each attribute category are proveded by an asterisk (*) and the columns below each heading are linea out.

STEP 2: CREATING A MEDIA POOL DATA BASE (ON-LINE)

Once you have created a satisfactory media pool, you need to enter it into the computer as a data base. This requires getting the media selection system up and running on the computer as discussed in Section II of the manual. When the system is ready to go, the initial introduction will be written on the CRT. The START menu offers the following functions...

- 1. SELECT MEDIA
- 2. CREATE A MEDIA POOL DATA BASE
- 3. EDIT A MEDIA POOL
- 4. PRINT MEDIA POOL/SELECTION INFORMATION
- 5. RETURN TO OPERATING SYSTEM

ENTER SELECTION?

To enter your unique pool into the computer, type in a 2 <RETURN>. The next message requests that you make up a file name for the media pool. . .

WHAT IS THE MEDIA POOL FILE NAME TO BE?

The file name must be no more than eight characters in length and may not contain spaces or punctuation. It is advisable that you select a file name directly relevant to the media pool, and less than eight characters in length. This way, future revisions to the media pool can be numbered accordingly. For example, AIMS2, LESSON13, and MNGMNT are all valid file names. The names themselves help keep track of the training programs to which the media pools apply. Once you have successfully entered a file name, you need to go through the three-task process of listing media, listing attributes, and cross-referencing media and attributes, but this time you will be doing it on-line.

After the file name has been entered, the computer requests. . .

TASK 1

HOW MANY MEDIA WILL BE CONTAINED IN THIS POOL?

Type in the number on the worksheet followed by <RETURN>. The computer then displays. . .

TYPE IN EACH MEDIUM NAME FOLLOWED BY A <RETURN>

You want to type in the first medium name, enter it (by pressing <RETURN>), type in the second medium name, enter it, type in the third medium name, enter it, etc. The computer will number them for you as you go along, so you can keep checking back to the worksheet to make sure you have your numbering right. If you make a mistake, type in a 999 and the computer will

help you get things straightened out. When you have typed in the last medium, the CRT will automatically display the next message. . .

TASK 2

 $\mathsf{T}\,{}^{*}\mathsf{PE}$ in the attributes and *headings, Following each one with a 'return'. . .

ENTER AN ATTRIBUTE OR A *HEADING (1)? (OR "O" WHEN DONE, 999 FOR HELP)

At this point, make sure you have all of the headings clearly marked on the worksheet with asterisks, "*". Make sure your attributes are numbered 1 through n, and that any headings or comments are not numbered. This is important, since anything that is not led with a "*" will be numbered and considered an attribute by the computer.

In response to the CRT request, type in an attribute or a *heading. An attribute will receive the numerical value that appears in parentheses on the CRT. A *heading will receive no numerical value. Keep track of the numbers as they progress, and make sure they agree with the numbers on the worksheet. If you make an error, enter a 999 as an attribute, and the computer will help you correct things. When you have typed in the last attribute, type in a 0 <RETURN> and you will get the next message. . .

TASK 3

CROSS-REFERENCE MEDIA AND ATTRIBUTES

This task results in the most errors because the user becomes careless in reading what is on the screen. Basically, you want to put in all of the rating numbers that relate the media to their attributes. When you are ready to proceed, the computer informs you of the medium you will be rating, then requests that you rate each relationship. It begins with the first medium and the fist attribute, proceeds to the second attribute, the third attribute, etc., all the way to the last medium and the last attribute. Each request will appear as a small model of the worksheet on the CRT.

SECTION VI

REFINING THE SELECTION PROCESS

While performing media selections with the standardized AIMS media pool (or even a unique media pool), you may find that the selections are adequate in a general sense, but could be improved to fit the training program at hand. This section provides examples of how to take information from preliminary media selections to refine the selection process by using the AIMS edit functions.

For example, perhaps you have a medium or several media in-house which are not on the AIMS media pool. You can rate each new medium with the attributes on the AIMS media pool, as described in Section V of this manual. Then, using the AIMS edit function, ADD A MEDIUM, you can add the new medium or media to the existing AIMS media pool without disturbing the rest of the data base.

In another example, assume that you have added some media, changed others, and performed several media selections for a group of objectives. By analyzing the selections, you may determine that the attributes on the present media pool do not sufficiently discriminate among the available media. Of course, determining how to better discriminate among media is a judgmental task that requires a certain amount of knowledge or experience from the user.

Assume the computer is generally selecting the following media for a group of objectives:

- 1. WORKBOOK
- 2. LECTURE
- 3. SLIDE/TAPE
- 4. RANDOM ACCESS SLIDES
- 5. CAI
- 6. BESSLER CUE-SEE

Now, suppose you know that CAI and random access slides should not be selected for these objectives because some of the students are in an early stage of learning and CAI and random access slides are only used for intermediate level students at the training site. It becomes clear that the AIMS system needs to make finer discriminations among beginning-level and intermediate-level students. This translates to the addition of two new attributes to the present media pool data base. Specifically:

> 1. EARLY STAGE OF LEARNING 2. INTERMEDIATE STAGE OF LEARNING

Then the user's job is to rate each medium in the media pool on a O (no relationship) to 5 (strong relationship) scale for these two new attributes. The media CAI and random access slides would receive a O rating on the EARLY STAGE OF LEARNING attribute, since these media are used solely for intermediate-level students. Suppose you also know that workbooks and

slide/tape are used strictly for beginning-level students. These two media would receive a O rating on the INTERMEDIATE LEVEL OF LEARNING attribute, and all other media would receive some rating greater than O for this attribute.

In the next step you would go to the computer, run the AIMS system, and from there call up the edit function, ADD AN ATTRIBUTE. Using the instructions provided, you would add the attribute EARLY STAGE OF LEARNING and rate each medium for this new attribute, being sure to assign O ratings to the media CAI and random access slides. Next you would add the attribute INTERMEDIATE LEVEL OF LEARNING and rank each medium accordingly. Of course, workbook and slide/tape would receive a O rating since they are not used at this stage of learning.

Once the new attributes have been added to the media pool data base, you would use the print functions on the AIMS system to produce a new selection worksheet. The new selection worksheet would include the new attributes and the usual check-off boxes for choosing the attributes as characteristics of the objective at hand. Having these additional attributes on the data base and worksheets would have the following effects (assuming the media were rated as they were in this example):

- 1. For those objectives in which EARLY STAGE OF LEARNING is determined to be an instructional characteristic on the worksheet, the computer will select all of the appropriate media except the O-rated media CAI and random access slides. All other media will be selected and rank-ordered in the usual fashion.
- 2. For those objectives in which INTERMEDIATE LEVEL OF LEARNING is determined to be an instructional characteristic on the worksheet, the computer will select all of the appropriate media except the 0-rated media workbook and slide/tape. All other media will be selected and rank-ordered in the usual fashion.
- 3. For those objectives in which neither of the new attributes (EARLY STAGE OF LEARNING or INTERMEDIATE STAGE OF LEARNING) were selected as instructional characteristics, the computer will consider all of the media in the pool for selection, including workbook, slide/tape, random access slides and CAI. In other words, if neither of these attributes is considered to be of importance to the objective being "mediated," then the computer will make <u>no</u> discriminations based on these attributes when selecting media.

By adding two new attributes, you have provided the option of refining the selection process. If you choose to define an objective as being in either the early or intermediate stage of learning, you will be eliminating certain media from consideration for selection. Specifically, those media which were rated as having a O relationship with the determined attribute. If you choose not to specify a level of learning for a given objective, then neither of these attributes will have an effect on the computer's selection of media and all of the media in the media pool will be considered for selection and rank-ordered appropriately.

In yet another example, using the standardized AIMS media pool as a data base, assume that you find the computer often selecting the following two media for certain objectives:

- 1. PART TASK TRAINER
- 2. PROCEDURAL TRAINER

As the user, assume that you know that the main difference between the part task and procedural trainers at your site is that the part task trainer provides a computer-operated view of a moving target on a radar screen, while the procedural trainer does not. This fact makes MOVING TARGET an important attribute for selecting media. As in the last example, you could simply add MOVING TARGET as an attribute on the media pool data base to further refine the computer's selections. But in this instance, assume that the attribute COLOR on the data base is never used. By using the AIMS edit function, CHANGE AN ATTRIBUTE, you could replace the attribute COLOR with the attribute MOVING TARGET. Then you could re-rate all of the media with this new attribute, and thereby refine the selection procedure. The effect is the same as in the previous example of adding attributes, except you have replaced an irrelevant attribute with a relevant one.

Of course, experience in instructional design and development, as well as experience with the AIMS system, will provide the best lessons for refining the selection process. However, as a general procedure for refining AIMS media selections, it is recommended that you follow these steps:

- 1. Try some preliminary media selections and analyze the selections made.
- 2. Determine which media are relevant to the training program at hand and not in the present media pool data base, then add them to the media pool using the ADD A MEDIUM edit function.
- 3. Consider the possibilities for further discriminating among media selections, and translate these possibilities into concrete instructional characteristics or media attributes.
- 4. Determine if any media attributes or instructional characteristics on the present media pool data base are irrelevant to the needs of the training program at hand, then replace them with relevant attributes or instructional characteristics using the CHANGE AN ATTRIBUTE edit function.
- 5. Add any media attributes or instructional characteristics that are relevant to the training program at hand using the ADD AN ATTRIBUTE edit function.

DISTRIBUTION

Commanding Officer Naval Training Equipment Cen. (N71) Orlando, FL 32813 60

Defense Technical Information Cen. Cameron Station Alexandria, VA 22310 12

(ALL OTHERS RECEIVE ONE COPY)

Commanding Officer Navy Submarine Base New London ATTN: Psychology Section, Box 600 Groton, CT 06340

Rockwell International Autonetics Marine Systems Div. New England Operations 1028 Poquonnock Road Groton, CT 06340

Eclectech Associates N. Stonington Professional Cen P. O. Box 178 N. Stonington, CT 06359

Analysis and Technology, Inc. ATTN: Bonnie E. Jennings Technology Park Route 2, P. O. Box 220 N. Stonington, CT 06359

Dunlap and Associates, Inc. One Parkland Dr. ATTN: J. T. Fucigna, Exec. VP Darien, CT 06820

Lockheed Electronics Co., Inc. ATTN: Support Engineering Dept. Mail Station 1100 1501 U.S. Highway 22, C.S. #1 Plainfield, NJ 07061

Systems Engineering Assoc. Corp. P. O. Box 2030 19 Cherry Hill Industrial Park Perina Blvd. Cherry Hill, NJ 08003 Rowland and Co. P. O. Box 61 Haddonfield, NJ 08033.

Dr. Donald W. Connolly Research Psychologist Federal Aviation Administration FAA NAFEC ANA-23- Bldg 3 Atlantic City, NJ 08405

Grumman Aerospace Corp. Plant 36, CO2-O4 ATTN: Mr. Sam Campbell Bethpage, LI, NY 11714

Marty Morganlander Gould S.SD. Melville, NY 11746

Drs. Cohen and Stark Link Division The Singer Company Binghamton, NJ 13902

Calspan Corporation 4455 Genesee St. Buffalo, NY 14225

George R. Purifoy, Jr. Applied Science Associates, Inc. Box 158 Balencia, PA 16059

Commander, Naval Air Dev. Cen. (Mr. Stan Winsko) Warminster, PA 18974

Commander, Naval Air Dev. Cen. (Code 602/CDR J. FUNARO) Warminster, PA 18974

Dr. Samuel D. Epstein Corporate VP, Group Executive Analytics 2500 Maryland Rd. Willow Grove, PA 19090

1 of 7

American Institute for Research in the Behavioral Sciences 1055 Thomas Jefferson St., NW Washington, DC 20007 American Psychological Assn. Psychological Abstracts 1200 17th St., NW Washington, DC 20036 Director Defense Research and Engineering Washington, DC 20301 OUSDR&E (R&AT) (E&LS) (CAPT Paul R. CHATELIER) Washington, DC 20301 Chief, Research Office Office, Deputy Chief of Staff Personnel Department of the Army Washington, DC 20310 HQAFSC/DLS Andrews AFB, DC 20334 Chief of Naval Operations Research, Development & Studies OP-115, Room G836 Washington, DC 20350 Chief of Naval Operations OP-987H/Dr. R. G. Smith Washington, DC 20350 Chief of Naval Operations OP-596C Washington, DC 20350 Commander, Naval Electronic Systems Command (Code 03) washington, DC 20360 Commander, Naval Air Systems Command (AIR 340F) Washington, DC 20361 Commander, Naval Air System Command (AIR 413/CDR C. SAMMONS) Washington, DC 20361

Commander, Naval Air Sys. Command (AIR 413F) Washington, DC 20361

Director, Personnel & Training Analysis Office Building 200-3 Washington Navy Yark Washington, DC 20374

Commander Naval Supply Systems Command Code O3 Washington, DC 20376

Commandant of Marine Corps Code OTTF 31 Washington, DC 20380

Scientific Technical Infor. Ofc. NASA Washington, DC 20546

Deloris Morisseau Nuclear Regulatory Commission Mail Stop 228 Washington, DC 20555

Naval Air Test Center (SY721/Dr. Sam Schiflett) Pauxent River, MD 20670

Hq, CONUS MI GP (Maj. William T. ANTON) Ft. Meade, MD 20755

Joyce F. Peacock, Librarian AAI Corporation Technical Library P. O. Box 6767 Baltimore, MD 21204

Director, Education Development Academic Computing Center U.S. Naval Academy Annapolis, MD 21402

Dr. Alan G. Humdt SAI Comsystems Corporation 7921 Jones Branch Drive McLean, VA 22102

George H. Datesman, Jr. Program Manager Applied Science Associates, Inc. P. O. Box 975 Middleburg, VA 22117

Litton Mellonics ATTN: Ms. Sue Tepper, Librarian P. O. Box 1286 Springfield, VA 22151

Rockwell International ATTN: D. B. Lafferman 1745 Jefferson Davis Highway Suite 1107 Arlington, VA 22202

Commander, Naval Sea Systems Command Code 61R2/P. J. Andrews 2221 Jefferson Davis Highway Arlington, VA 22202

Chief of Naval Research (Code 458/Dr. Henry Halff) 800 N. Quincy Street Arlington, VA 22217

Mr. Harold Kinton 1500 N. Beauregard St. Alexandria, VA 22311

Joseph String Institute for Defense Analyses 1801 N. Beauregard St. Alexandria, VA 22311

Dr. Jesse Orlansky Institute for Defense Analyses Science & Technology Div. 1801 N. Beauregard St. Alexandria, VA 22311

Director, Human Resources Research Organization 300 N. Washington St. Alexandria, VA 22314

Essex Corporation ATTN: Dr. Thomas B. Malone 333 N. Fairfax St. Alexandria, VA 22314 Dr. Saul Lavisky Executive Officer Humrro 300 N. Washington St. Alexandria, VA 22314

Hq USAF/XOOTD (Maj. Bob Croach) Washington, DC 22330

Commanding Officer Fleet Combat Training Center Atlantic (Code 02A/Mr. Hartz) Virginia Beach, VA 23461

Army Training Support Center 'ATTSC-DC Ft. Eustis, VA 23604

Chief, ARI Field Unit P. O. Box 2086 ATTN: Librarian Ft. Benning, GA 31905

Seville Research Corporation Suite 400, Plaza Buildign Pace Blvd. at Fairfield Pensacola, FL 32505

Naval Aero Medical Research Lab Vision Research Division (Code 32) NAS Pensacola, FL 32508

Chief of Naval Edcuation & Training Code N-2 Pensacola, FL 32508

Chief of Naval Education & Training (Code N-5/Dr. F. Sunland) Pensacola, FL 32508

Chief of Naval Education & Training (Bill Crawford) Pensacola, FL 32508

Chief of Naval Education & Training (Code N-53/Doug Davis) Pensacola, FL 32508

Chief of Naval Education & Training (Code 01A) Pensacola, FL 32508

3 of 7
NAVTRAEQUIPCEN 79-C-0104-1

Naval Aerospace Medical Lab. Human Performance Sciences Dept. NAS Pensacola, FL 32508 Commanding Officer Navy Education Tng. Prog. Dev. Cen. Saufley Field ATTN: Mr. Bill Hague, IPD-10 Pensacola, FL 32509 Mr. Barry Koncan M11SA Bldg. 2434 Saufley Field Pensacola, FL 32509 TAWC/TN Eglin AFB, FL 32542 Northrop Services, Inc. ATTN: J. P. Quinn Lakeview 436 Office Park 1315 S. Semoran Blvd. Winter Park, FL 32792 Spectrum of America, Inc. ATTN: W. Hinton 1040 Woodcock Road Orlando, FL 32803 Appli-Mation, Inc. 3191 Maguire Blvd. Suite 244 Orlando, FL 32803 Mr. Joe Holland Hughes Aircraft Co. 3165 McCrory Place Suite 120 Orlando, FL 32803 Ergonomics Associates, Inc. P. O. Box 20987 Orlando, FL 32814 UCF Center of Excellence University of Central Florida Alafaya Trail Orlando, FL 32816

CDR, U.S. Army Missile Command ATTN: DRSMI-SNN/Mr. William Lundy Redstone Arsenal, AL 35897

CDR, U.S. Army Missile Command ATTN: DRSMI-SNN/Dr. William May Redstone Arsenal, AL 35897

CDR, U.S. Army Missile & Munitions Center & School (ATSK-AAC/Leon Jones) Redstone Arsenal, AL 35897

USAHEL/USAAVNC ATTN: DRXHE-FR (Dr. Hofmann) P.O. Box 476 Ft. Rucker, AL 36362

Commander, U.S. Army Aviation Center ATTN: ATZQ-TD-ESD-SAS/Richard Dean Ft. Rucker, AL 36362

Chief, ARI Field Unit P. O. Box 476 Ft. Rucker, AL 36362

Chief of Naval Technical Training Code 0161 NAS Memphis (75) Millington, TN 38054

Craig McLean ASB/YWE Wright Patterson AFB, OH 45433

AFERL/LR Logistics Research Div. Wright Patterson AFB, OH 45433

ASD/ENETC Mr. R. G. Cameron Wright Patterson AFB, OH 45433

Commanding Officer Naval Hospital Corps School Great Laxes, IL 60088

4 of 7

NAVTRAEQUIPCEN 79-C-0104-1

McDonnell Douglas Astronautics Co. ATTN: E. J. Reilly Dept. E080, Bldg 106, Level 2 P. O. Box 516 St. Louis, MO 63166

Chief of Naval Reserve Code S-3311 New Orleans, LA 70146

Hq, 34th Tactical Airlift Training Group TTDI Little Rock AFB, AK 72076

Chief, Methodology & Standards Staff FAA Academy Aeronautical Center, AAC-914 P. O. Box 25082 Oklahoma City, OK 73125

Commandant U.S. Army Field Artillery School Counterfire Dept. ATTN: Eugene C. Rogers Ft. Sill, OK 73503

Commandant ATSF-TD-TS (Mr. Inman) Ft. Sill, OK 73503

General Dynamics/Ft. Worth ATTN: J. A. Davis P. O. Box 748 MZ 2865 Ft. Worth, TX 76101

Hg, Air Training Command, XPTI ATTN: Mr. Goldman Randolph AFB, TX 78148

Hq, Air Training Command ATTN: LTCol Robert Klinger Randolph AFB, TX 78148

Hq, Air Training Command ATC XPTI/Maj. Howlett Randolph AFB, TX 78148

Dell Taedt Technology, Inc. Life Sciences Div. 300 Breesport San Antonio, TX 78216 AFHRL/MP Brooks AFB, TX 78235 U.S. Air Force Human Resources Lab. AFHRL-MPM Manpower & Personnel Div. Manpower & Force Mgmt. Sys. Brooks AFB, TX 78235 U.S. Air Force Human Resources Lab. TSZ Brooks AFB, TX 78235 AFHRL/PE Brooks AFB, TX 78235 Chief of Naval Air Training (Code 333) NAS Corpus Christi, TX 78419 Chief of Naval Air Technical Tng. (N3123/M. C. Ball) NAS Corpus Christi, TX 78419 Chief of Naval Air Training Naval Air Station Corpus Christi, TX 78419 Chief of ARI Field Unit (Dr. Michael Straub) Ft. Bliss, TX 79906 Applied Science Associates, Inc. Box 6057 Ft. Bliss, TX 79916 Dr. J. Jeffrey Richardson Denver Research Institute University of Denver Denver, CO 80208

U.S. Air Force Human Resources Lab AFHRL-OT (Dr. Rockway) Williams AFB, AZ 85224

5 of 7

i

NAVTRAEGULIPEN 19-6-0104-1

Chief of Naval Education & Training Liaison Office Human Resources Lab. Flying Training Division Wiiliams AFB, AZ 85224

AFHRL/OTO Luke AFB, AZ 85309

Hughes Aircraft Co. Corporate Marketing/RFP Control P. D. Box 92996 Los Angeles, CA 90009

Mr. Ralph W. Smith Research Analyst Northrop Corporation 3901 W. Broadway Hawthorne, CA 90250

XYZYX Information Corp. ATTN: Frank Fuchs, Proj. Mgr. P. J. Box 193 Canoda Park, CA 91305

Canyon Research Group, Inc. 741 Lakefield Rd. Suite B Westlake Village, CA 91361

Ms. Sarah A. S. Goldberg Perceptronics, Inc. 0271 Variel Avenue Woodland Hills, CA

Ms. Betty Huls Lockheed California Co. P. O. Box 551 Burbank, CA 91520

Ed Callahan Dept. 98-21, Plant B6, Sico P346 Lockheed Company P. D. Box 551 Burbank, CA 91520

Instructional Science & Dev., Inc. 5059 Newport Ave., Suite 303 San Diego, CA 92107 MS. Nancy Marcue Veda, Inc. 7851 Mission Center Court Suite 320 San Diego, CA 92108

Mathetics, Inc. C. J. Box 26655 San Diego, CA 92126

Mr. Robert Fauge P. U. Box 20055 San Diego, CA 92126

Mr. Raymond E. Marshall Educational Technologist Essex Corp., San Diego Facility 3211 Jefferson St. San Diego, CA 9211

Commanding Officer Naval Education & 1 - Luing Support Center, F - fic (Code N-7/Gloria Hullor) San Diego, CA - 921.

Commanding Officer Naval Education & Training Support Center, Pacific (Code N5B/Mr. Rothenberg) San Diego, CA 92132

Commander, Naval Air Force U.S. Pacific Fleet (Code 316/ Eolwerκ) NAS North Island San Diego, CA 92135

Commander VS 41 NAS North Island San Diego, CA 92135

HS-10 Training Department Bldg. 626 (Renee Davis) NAS North Island San Digo, CA 92135

5 01 7

NAVTRAEQUIPCEN 79-C-0104-1

Fleet Logistics Support Squadron 30 Education Specialist, FRS Dept. NAS North Island San Diego, CA 92135

Commanding Officer Fleet Training Center ATTN: Training Department Naval Station San Diego, CA 92136

SAI Comsystems Corporation P. O. Box A-81126 San Diego, CA 92138

Logicon, Inc. Tactical & Training Systems Div. P. O. Box 80158 San Diego, CA 92138

Diann S. Morgan, Library Clerk Logicon, Inc. Library 4010 Sorrento Valley Blvd. P. O. Box 85158 San Diego, CA 92138-5158

Commanding Officer Training Command ATTN: Educational Advisor U.S. Pacific Fleet San Diego, CA 92147

Commanding Officer Fleet Combat Training Center, Pacific Code O9A San Diego, CA 92147

Commanding Officer Fleet Anti-Submarine Warefare Training Center, Pacific ATTN: Code 001 San Diego, CA 92147

Commanding Officer Naval Health Research Center San Diego, CA 92152

Commanding Officer Navy Personnel Research & Dev. Cen (Wally Wolfeck) San Diego, CA 92152 Commanding Officer Navy Personnel Research & Development Center (Dr. J. McLachlin) San Diego, CA 92152

Navy Personnel Research & Development Center (Carol Robinson) San Diego, CA 92152

Navy Personnel Research & Development Center (Code P201L/M. McDowell) San Diego, CA 92152

Hughes Aircraft Corporation (Steve Null) Ground Systems Group Box 3310 MS688/N104 Fullerton, CA 92634

Human Factors Research, Inc. ATTN: Dr. R. Mackie 5775 Dawson Ave. Goleta, CA 93017

Human Factors Engineering (Code 1226/LT Wayne R. HELM) Point Mugu, CA 93042

Commatider Naval Weapons Center (Code 3154/Mr. Bob Curtis) China Lake, CA 93555

Dr. D. P. Germeraad, Mgr. Dept. 57-70, Bldg. 568 Lockheed Missiles & Space Co., Inc. P. O. Box 504 Sunnyvale, CA 94086

Winnie Lee Crew Systems & Simulation Tech. The Boeing Aerospace Co. P. O. Box 3999, M. S. 82-87 Seattle, WA 98124

7 of 7

